THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INSTRUCTOR SELF-EFFICACY AND ONLINE COURSE SUCCESS RATES AT A COMMUNITY COLLEGE

by

Denise Sara Martin

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

Liberty University

2022

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INSTRUCTOR SELF-EFFICACY AND ONLINE COURSE SUCCESS RATES AT A COMMUNITY COLLEGE

by Denise Sara Martin

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA

2022

APPROVED BY:

Daniel Baer, Ph.D., Committee Chair

Jeffrey S. Savage, Ed.D., Committee Member

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this quantitative, non-experimental, predictive correlational study was to determine if an online instructor's perception of their own self-efficacy in student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers could predict their online course success rate. As distance education continues to grow, administrators seek ways to improve students' learning experiences and success in online courses. One method of retaining students in programs is providing instructors the needed resources to support students as they progress through a course. The participants for the current study were faculty at a community college in North Carolina who taught an online course in fall of 2020. A sample of 65 instructors were surveyed using an instrument called the Michigan Nurse Educators Sense of Efficacy for Online Teaching Scale (MNESEOTS). Collected data were analyzed using multiple linear regression, which found no significant predictive relationships between instructor self-efficacy and any of the four measured areas of student success. While this contradicts some of the literature, recommendations for future research include additional studies with increased sample sizes at more institutions and expanded surveys targeting online and seated faculty to determine if a difference between the variables exists for each of those populations. Moreover, additional research should include comparisons of the variables against course success rates.

Keywords: course success rate, distance education, online learning, professional development, self-efficacy, student success

Dedication

I dedicate this manuscript to my family. To my husband Matt, you have supported me this entire journey, through the tears and self-doubt, through the frustrations and writer's block, and through the writing marathons and late nights. You kept the kids occupied, you cooked dinner, you made runs to Starbucks, you brought me snacks. I am thankful for all the sacrifices you made so that I could complete this adventure. I would not have even started, much less finished this without your unfailing belief in me. To my daughters Maryann and Kristin, I hope that you can forgive the many weekends that I had to study instead of play. I am thankful for your sacrifice as well and I hope that I have shown by my example that you can do great things and that you are smarter and stronger than you think. I hope that someday you too will face your fears and do something you thought was impossible. Thank you. I love you.

Acknowledgements

I want to thank Dr. Linda Scuiletti for being a mentor and helping me as I began this journey and designed my study. I want to thank Dr. Kristi Short for encouraging me at the end when I was so close but struggling to finish. I want to thank all my CCCC colleagues who inspired me to begin this journey, and then cheered me on through every chapter. Finally, I want to thank Dr. Daniel Baer for your patience and guidance as my dissertation chair. You were kind, supportive, honest, and always encouraged me to keep going.

ABSTRACT
Dedication4
Acknowledgements
List of Tables
List of Figures
List of Abbreviations
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION13
Overview
Background13
Self-efficacy14
Efficacy in Student Engagement14
Efficacy in Instructional Strategies15
Efficacy in Classroom Management15
Efficacy in Use of Computers16
Historical Context
Social Context17
Theoretical Framework19
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Significance of the Study
Research Question
Definitions

Table of Contents

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Overview	
Theoretical Framework	
Knowles' Theory of Adult Learning	
Andragogy	29
Self-directed Learning	
Five Pillars of Online Learning	
Learning Effectiveness	
Cost Effectiveness	
Access	
Accessibility and Learning Outcomes	
Student Satisfaction	40
Faculty Satisfaction	42
Related Literature	43
Adult Learners	43
Online Education	44
Course Success Rates	45
Student Success	46
Instructor Self-Efficacy	47
Efficacy in Student Engagement	48
Efficacy in Instructional Strategies	
Efficacy in Classroom Management	
Efficacy in Use of Computers	

Faculty professional development	55
Summary	57
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	59
Overview	59
Design 59	
Research Question	61
Null Hypothesis	61
Participants and Setting	61
Instrumentation	64
Procedures	65
Data Analysis	67
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	70
Overview	70
Research Question	70
Null Hypothesis	70
Descriptive Statistics	70
Results	72
Hypothesis	72
Data Analysis	72
Data Screening and Assumptions Testing	74
Assumption of Bivariate Outliers	74
Assumption of Multivariate Normal Distribution	74
Assumption of non-Multicollinearity	74

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS	78
Overview	78
Discussion	78
Implications	80
Limitations	82
Recommendations for Future Research	84
REFERENCES	86
APPENDIX A - Author Permission for Use of Instrument	121
APPENDIX B - IRB Approval	

List of Tables

Table 1. Background Characteristics	61
Table 2. Descriptives of Continuous Variables	71
Table 3. Collinearity Statistics	71
Table 4. Regression Model Results	73
Table 5. Model Summary	73
Table 6. Coefficients	73

List of Figures

Figure 1. Predictor and Criterion Variables	.24
Figure 2. Scatterplot of Success Rate Against Student Engagement	.75
Figure 3. Scatterplot of Success Rate Against Instructional Strategies	.76
Figure 4. Scatterplot of Success Rate Against Classroom Management	.76
Figure 5. Scatterplot of Success Rate Against Use of Computers	.77
Figure 6. Scatterplot of Standardized Residuals Against the Unstandardized Predicted	
Values	.77

List of Abbreviations

Classroom management (ClaMan)

Course Success Rate (SucRate)

Institutional Effectiveness and Research (IER)

Instructional Strategies (InsStr)

Michigan Nurse Educators Sense of Efficacy for Online Teaching Scale (MNESEOTS)

Massively Online Open Course (MOOC)

Use of Computers (UseCom)

Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS)

Student Engagement (StuEng)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

This section will provide an overview of instructor self-efficacy and course success rates and the background and importance of student success in online courses. The historical and social context and the relevant theoretical framework will be detailed, and a review of the related literature will be given. The problem statement, purpose statement, and the significance of this research will be addressed. Finally, the research questions and the variables for this research will be explained and terms used will be defined.

Background

Enrollment at community colleges declines when the economy improves (Quinterno, 2019), and college enrollment has been declining for the last four years (Seaman et al., 2018). Typically, this is because more jobs are available and prospective students do not have the time to attend college, or there are more employment opportunities available, and workers do not need more education or enhanced skills to find better jobs. Unfortunately, when enrollment declines, so does the state funding that supports the college because funding is based on the number of enrolled students (Quinterno, 2019). A decrease in funding can adversely affect an institution by requiring administrators to look for areas to make up the loss, including eliminating programs, staff, and faculty layoffs, and increasing the cost of tuition (Guth, 2018). To avoid a decrease in funding, and to keep college enrollment increasing and campuses thriving, administrators often examine ways to reduce barriers to attrition (Harris et al., 2016), increase credential completion (Pierce, 2015), and increase student satisfaction (Bassi, 2019). This research will focus on two specific criteria that colleges might use to accomplish this goal—instructor self-efficacy and course success rate.

Self-efficacy

Instructor self-efficacy is defined as the instructor's personal belief about themselves and how they use their skills in different situations (Bandura, 1997). Self-efficacy is also a judgment of capability (Hardy et al., 2017) which is typically self-reported and presumably irrespective of the individual's actual qualifications, education, or experience with the subject matter in question. If administrators could identify specific areas of low self-efficacy, this data could be used to create professional development opportunities and provide support and resources to faculty, and if successful, might impact attrition, completion, and student satisfaction.

Self-efficacy can be defined as an individual's own perceived ability, or confidence in their ability, to accomplish a goal or objective (Bandura, 1997). Thus, self-efficacy affects attitudes, which regulates how a person views their ability to use the various skills required to perform a specific task or how confident an individual is their belief that their own skills will apply to any problem, resulting in a favorable outcome (Kirsch, 1995). The perception of self-efficacy is typically not related to an individual's actual level of competence (Bandura, 1997). In particular, there seems to be a relationship between an individual's hesitance to use higher forms of technology and their level of perceived self-efficacy which may be a sign of that person's belief that they are unable to perform adequately, even if they possess the skills to do so (Yesilyurt et al., 2016).

Efficacy in Student Engagement

Faculty engagement with students is comprised of several factors, including facilitating an active learning environment, appropriate levels of academic rigor, and dynamic communication with students (Coates, 2007). Student engagement, specifically, interactivity between the instructor and student, requires effort and collaboration from both the instructor and student (Gourlay, 2017). As such, online learning trades consistent, face-to-face engagement requiring little motivation on the part of the teacher and student, for increased motivation for learning by the student and access at a distance for the instructor; in other words, online learning places higher value on the shorter amount of time that instructors interact with his or her students (Warren & Robinson, 2018). Thus, instructors with a higher level of self-efficacy hold more responsibility for student learning outcomes and have a higher level of engagement with students (Fong et al., 2019). Additionally, research shows that higher self-efficacy results in higher job satisfaction, which results in higher engagement in the classroom (Granziera & Perera, 2019).

Efficacy in Instructional Strategies

It is well known that the instructor's own teaching ability in online and seated instructional strategies directly affect student learning and grade outcomes, but it is also the students' perception of the teacher's ability to use and manage the technology within the classroom that fosters both the teacher's growth and the students' individual learning experiences (Elstad & Christophersen, 2017). It is imperative, therefore, that the academic institution not only provide training in how to improve the teacher's instructional practices, but also that they build the teacher's personal motivation and inspiration in the use of those practices (Depaepe & Konig, 2018).

Efficacy in Classroom Management

Even the most prepared instructors can experience significant challenges in the classroom environment, no matter the instructional setting (Patterson & Seabrooks-Blackmoore, 2017). Problem students in any setting can disrupt an entire class, leading to poor academic performance in both the perpetrator, but also their classmates, who might be innocent bystanders. Online classrooms are no different and the preparation techniques institutions use to assist instructors in managing their classrooms should be adapted to reflect the actual situation in which those techniques will be used (Beasley & Bernadowski, 2019). The training provided to the instructor by the institution should have a two-fold effect: Help the instructor master efficacy in their own classroom management, but also improve the students' motivation to master the material, both objectively and subjectively (Schiefele, 2017).

Efficacy in Use of Computers

It is almost obvious to make the case that for an instructor to be effective in a digital classroom, proficiency with technology, and the self-belief one's own proficiency is required. Academic institutions must empower online instructors with the knowledge, skills, and training to use them, long before that technology is used in their academic programs (Heath, 2017). This should be a holistic instructional system: Online instructors build their capacity to employ and integrate technology in multiple environments, while also strengthening their own ability to do so, both informally and formally as a part of an institutionally supported and participative training program (Barton & Dexter, 2019).

Historical Context

Non-traditional education began the split from its seated counterparts in 1728 when the first correspondence course was sent through the mail (Kentnor, 2017) to the first distancelearning cohort. Wired communication revolutionized the academic environment, leading to the use of the internet for delivery of college courses. Online education has evolved significantly over the years, from the first online course taught in 1981 by Western Behavioral Sciences Institute's School of Management and Strategic Studies (Harasim, 2000). Currently, 49% of all students are enrolled exclusively in an online program at for-profit institutions, 19% in online programs at private, non-profit institutions, and 11% of students in online programs at public institutions (Ginder et al., 2019). In 2017, 1,007,367 (63.98%) students at a community college in North Carolina took at least one online course (NC Community College System, 2018). Online education is no longer an oddity, it is quickly becoming normalized and may one day replace the seated program as the preferred method of delivery.

Online education is a vital component of a community college because many students need to take online classes to have flexibility in their daily schedule when balancing family and employment obligations (Ashburn, 2006). In addition, online classes can provide access for students who do not have reliable transportation or who do not live close to a college (Finnegan, 2019). In response to this need, the community college must offer an online education experience for the student that is comparable with the experience that the student would receive in the classroom (Gregory & Lampley, 2016). Because the community need for flexible classes is so great, administrators are looking for ways to increase student success to help students earn their desired credential in online courses.

Social Context

Whether through the active transmission of knowledge or the spreading of social justice, higher education serves even the portion of the population that might not engage in post-secondary learning (Williams, 2016). However, higher education serves the public interest most effectively when those invested in learning are both engaged with academics and continue the learning process, even after the formal portion is complete, leading to increased social inclusion and active citizenship (Ates & Alsal, 2012). Higher education is directly tied to improved quality of life, increased salary, and stronger local economies, thus making improved retention a noble goal for local, state, and regional educational institutions (Stuart et al., 2014). Therefore, it serves

the public interest for colleges to make their best effort to improve the educational environment so that avoidable failures and the subsequent attrition is prevented (Williams, 2016).

A student's failure can create a cascading effect as the risk of recurring failure discourages the student from either trying again with the same program or even attempting a new program (Poellhuber et al., 2008). Student failure can also be an indication of failure on the part of the college in their effort to inculcate students into a culture of learning and academics (Lee & Choi, 2011). While there are many factors such as a student's extra-curricular activities, his or her family responsibilities, or job obligations that the institution cannot control (Castles, 2004; Perry et al., 2008) the institution can both offer limited assistance to help the student manage those factors and can work to increase student satisfaction in various ways. This assistance might include tutoring, training (Müller, 2008), and academic advising (Ivankova & Stick, 2007).

Improving, maintaining, and enhancing student success, therefore, is in the best interest of not only the student, but the college, the local community, and even society as a whole (Ates & Alsal, 2012; Stuart et al., 2014; Williams, 2016). While earning grades good enough to succeed in an academic program is ultimately the student's responsibility, the institution should put forth its best effort to create an environment in which the student has the best chance to accomplish his or her educational goals by fostering the student's own sense of self-efficacy (Doménech-Betoret et al., 2017), as well as their extra-curricular activities, his or her family responsibilities, and their job obligations. This includes hiring the most qualified individuals to teach and providing the resources and training to the instructors to increase their effectiveness in their classrooms.

Theoretical Framework

The overarching concept of this research is student success, as it relates to instructor selfefficacy and course success rates. The framework supporting this concept is the interrelation between the five pillars of online learning and Knowles' theory of adult learning (Knowles M. S., 1978). The five pillars of online learning are learning effectiveness, cost effectiveness, access, student satisfaction, and faculty satisfaction. These five pillars describe the supports that comprise an online learning program and also how they relate to the stakeholders within its influence, such as faculty, instructors, and students (Online Learning Consortium, 2002). In most post-secondary, online learning environments, the students are adults, who have different learning mechanisms and needs than children. According to Knowles' adult learning theory, adult learners are more self-directed than children but also require support from the academic institution to continue to function as self-directed learners (Merriam, 2001).

Online education certainly supports self-directed learning, and the concept seems tailormade for adults, but the institution must also ensure that these adult students have the support necessary to expand their own ability to learn and ensure successful completion of their credentials. Knowles established the theory of adult learners in 1978, and the concept of the five pillars of online learning has added to that theoretical base by integrating new concepts that were (Chang et al., 2011; Petit dit Dariel et al., 2013; Sword, 2012) established with online learning to what is known about adult learners. The two theories have an important interrelation because one without the other would provide an incomplete theoretical foundation for today's online adult learners.

According to the five pillars of online learning, a significant factor in improving student success in online programs is the perceived equivalence between online programs and their

traditional counterparts (Online Learning Consortium, 2002). Despite many online programs being accredited or even being modeled after traditional, seated programs in reputable educational institutions, "online college" still retains a stigma of being sub-par with or unequal to traditional programs, primarily when the online program is not hosted by an established, recognized, educational institution (Christensen & Eyring, 2011). To counter this, educational institutions should strive to ensure that their online programs are equal in rigor, quality, and outcomes to their seated programs (Stack, 2015).

Both student and faculty satisfaction are necessary to enhance the online experience and improve student success. These two constructs create a feedback loop between each other, with each influencing the other (Gray & DiLoreto, 2016). Faculty satisfaction will likely be at its highest when they are involved in the development and governance of their programs and are given the tools to best manage those programs, such enhanced training and adequate technical support (Online Learning Consortium, 2002). Student success follows, as properly trained and empowered instructors will likely have a higher self-efficacy and therefore a higher quality of interaction with the students, engaging them with timely information using current technology that is reinforced by competent technical and administrative support services (Althauser, 2015).

Adult students, while more self-directed learners than children, still require a significant level of educational support (Park & Choi, 2009). This support includes adequate rigor, apparent value, and robust access to interesting and varied academic programs. Adult learners are likely employed and require the highest benefit at the lowest cost, which includes both time and money (Rogers, 2018). To be self-directed also means that students and instructors both have the technical and administrative support necessary to create an environment where engagement is a priority but is also natural and enriching (Jones, 2013). This supported engagement contributes to

the learning capacity of online, self-directed students, potentially increasing student satisfaction, leading to student success, and successful completion of a credential. Improving instructors' selfefficacy is part of this supported engagement, as student engagement is a significant factor in teacher self-efficacy (Shaukat & Iqbal, 2012).

Problem Statement

The relationship between student success rates in community college courses and teacher self-efficacy is not well defined in the literature as most research on this subject has been done at the university level (Muljana & Luo, 2019). There is literature that addresses low course success rates in the community college setting (Corry & Stella, 2018; Hardy et al., 2017; Vayre & Vonthron, 2016), but the reasons vary, and none of literature specifically attributes teacher selfefficacy as a factor. Additional literature discusses preparedness and organizational support as factors in self-efficacy (Thomas et.al., 2019; Vang et al., 2020) but do not connect those factors directly with student success or course pass rates. The skills required of teachers to teach students effectively in an online, asynchronous environment are becoming more important than ever, and there is a relationship between an individual's comfort with technology and their perceived self-efficacy (Barton & Dexter, 2019). Nonetheless, these variables have not been studied at the community college level, despite the high adoption rate of distance and online learning by community colleges (Yesilyurt et al., 2016). The literature gap is evident when examining how those these various elements—self-efficacy, preparedness, organizational support, etc.—relate to the overall concept, their impact on course success rates, and their usefulness in community colleges (Zee & Koomen, 2016). A further limitation in research exists because self-efficacy is measured with a variety of different instruments, each focusing on different aspects and outcomes (Zee & Koomen, 2016). Thus, the numerous measures generate

varying or contradictory results, and none of those results have been used to address how teacher self-efficacy, irrespective of how it is measured or defined, could be a factor in student and course success rates. This gap in research poses a problem for community colleges, as community college course success rates are a significant factor in student retention, which in turn determines future state and local funding, in addition to contributing higher quality graduates to the workforce (Quinterno, 2019). The problem is that the literature has not fully addressed the relationship between course success rates and instructor self-efficacy at the community college level (Vang et al., 2020).

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quantitative, predictive correlational study is to determine to what extent an instructor's perception of their own self-efficacy in student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers as an online instructor can predict their online course success rate. This research will examine four predictor variables to determine if there is a correlation to course success rates. These variables are instructor self-efficacy in student engagement, instructor self-efficacy in instructional strategies, instructor self-efficacy in classroom management, and instructor self-efficacy in the use of computers. The definition of these variables is:

- Student Engagement Engagement with students is comprised of several factors, including facilitating an active learning environment, appropriate levels of academic rigor, and dynamic communication with students (Coates, 2007).
- Instructional Strategies A process to employ educational tactics and goals designed to
 elicit specific behavior in learners, using structure and goals that will accomplish the
 desired strategy. (Sangwan, 2019).

- *Classroom Management* The management of student behaviors and organization of the classroom are primary concerns for educators. These skills are demonstrated through the formation of daily routines, which save time and promote good order within the classroom. These elements of classroom management are necessary if the educator expects the students to have positive learning experiences and meet the overall learning outcomes as defined by academic program (Rawlings Lester et al., 2017).
- Use of Computers The use of computers falls into three elements: Basic skills, informational, and learning. Basic skills are a demonstration of students' information technology knowledge; the use of computers as an informational tool is a gauge of how well the student can use technology to research; and, finally, the use of computers as a learning tool is a demonstration of students' ability to practice their knowledge and skills (Tondeur et al., 2008).

These variables will be measured by a survey by which faculty will assess their selfefficacy in these areas. The criterion variable is online course success rates, which is calculated by dividing the number of students who complete a course with a grade of A, B, or C by the number of students who start the course (Bishop et al., 2018). This variable will be measured by looking at the course success rate of the courses taught by faculty at a community college who teach online courses. The researcher will then look at the relationship between the instructor's self-efficacy and the course success rate to determine what the correlation is between how an instructor feels about their efficacy and if it has an impact on online course success rates.

Figure 1 shows a visual representation of the variables:

Figure 1

Predictor and Criterion Variables



Significance of the Study

This study is significant because student success ultimately contributes to the public benefit that higher education provides and, traditionally, teacher self-efficacy is a factor in student success in seated programs. Additionally, the literature concerning distance education and teacher self-efficacy is limited, even as online learning continues to advance as students' format of choice throughout both the United States and the world (Ginder et al., 2019). As more traditional colleges adopt the online learning format, it only makes sense that those learning institutions would attempt to adapt their faculty training programs to improve academic outcomes to achieve similar or better levels than as seen with traditional programs. This study will contribute to the existing body of knowledge by providing empirical depth to the understanding of student success in online learning environments, especially in the realm of community colleges. This contribution could promote additional research into other avenues of student success and might provide further assistance to educational institutions seeking to improve their instructors' self-efficacy.

A theoretical significance is the fact that this study addresses a relatively unknown and not well-understood phenomenon in the classroom. There is a potential disparity between an instructor's perception of his or her self-efficacy and the course success rates in online classes. As previously mentioned, there is very little, if any, research with these two concepts studied in intersection. A better understanding of this intersection could help students understand the new evolving environment that is distance education, reduce student stress and confusion, and potentially increase their academic success (Martin J. M., 2017). Ultimately, this study has practical significance because it reinforces the concept of higher education is beneficial for the public good, contributing to students' overall benefit to society through their critical thinking skills, taking responsibility for their actions, and achievement of intrinsically motivated goals (O' Shea et al., 2015).

Research Question

RQ1: How accurately can an online instructor's online course success rate be predicted from a linear combination of their academic self-efficacy factors?

Definitions

1. *Classroom Management* – The management of student behaviors and organization of the classroom are primary concerns for educators. These skills are demonstrated through the

formation of daily routines, which save time and promote good order within the classroom. These elements of classroom management are necessary if the educator expects the students to have positive learning experiences and meet the overall learning outcomes as defined by academic program (Rawlings Lester et al., 2017).

- Distance Education A learning environment in which the student(s) and teacher(s) are not in the same location. Typically, distance education uses technology, with the internet currently being the primary vehicle, but correspondence through the mail has been a popular method and was even the main method until the advent of the internet (Kentnor, 2017).
- Instructional Strategies A process to employ educational tactics and goals designed to elicit specific behavior in learners, using structure and goals that will accomplish the desired strategy. (Sangwan, 2019).
- 4. Online Learning a form of distance education that allows both synchronous and asynchronous delivery of course content, provides students with additional flexibility regarding understanding the subject matter, and requires higher levels of self-motivation by the student to learn the material (Perry & Pilati, 2011).
- Professional Development Performance improvement strategy designed to create positive change in competence, and includes any activity, formal and informal, to include reading professional articles and attending workshops or conferences (Borg, 2018).
- Self-Efficacy the personal belief about oneself and how one uses the skills one possesses under various conditions (Bandura, 1997).

- Student Engagement Engagement with students is comprised of several factors, including facilitating an active learning environment, appropriate levels of academic rigor, and dynamic communication with students (Coates, 2007).
- 8. Student Success a successful student possesses many common characteristics, such as time management ability and critical thinking skills (Gregory & Lampley, 2016). Student success from an academic institution's point of view, however, could have many definitions as determined by the institution itself. Commonly, student success is defined by forward progress toward completion of the degree program, graduate school admission test scores, and the rate of transfer from a two-year institution to a four-year institution (Kuh et al., 2006).
- 9. Use of Computers The use of computers falls into three elements: Basic skills, informational, and learning. Basic skills are a demonstration of students' information technology knowledge; the use of computers as an informational tool is a gauge of how well the student can use technology to research; and, finally, the use of computers as a learning tool is a demonstration of students' ability to practice their knowledge and skills (Tondeur et al., 2008).

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

This section will provide a detailed review of the theoretical framework of Knowles' theory of adult learning and the five pillars of online learning along with its significance to this research. A comprehensive review of the literature pertaining to adult learners, online education course success rates, student success, instructor self-efficacy, and faculty professional development will be given. Finally, a conclusion will be made which summarizes all the information given and shows why the selected literature is pertinent to this research.

Theoretical Framework

It is important to understand the relevant theoretical framework that supports a research project. This framework establishes the relationship between the constructs on which this research is based. In this case, Knowles' theory of adult learning posits that adults learn by experience, which is better understood through andragogy and through self-directed learning. These constructs are then viewed through the paradigm of the five pillars of online learning, with the result being an effective adult education program.

Knowles' Theory of Adult Learning

The theory of adult learning was first published by Malcolm Knowles in 1968, where he developed this concept based on his insight that adults as learners needed to be treated as adults, as self-directed people, and with respect (Knowles, 1968). Knowles noted that for adult learners, the focus needed to be on teaching techniques which make use of the learner's experience, such as simulation, labs, case studies, and discussions rather than the traditional lecture, reading, and presentations. Specific reference was made regarding action learning and participative learning and that adult learning should be problem-centered, allowing adult students to identify what they

are curious about and creating a curriculum around those curiosities in a student-centered manner. It was Knowles' work on adult learning that set the stage for two theories, andragogy and self-directed learning, to emerge and begin to transform adult education experiences.

Andragogy

The concept of andragogy is first attributed to Alexander Kapp who introduced this concept in Europe in 1833 in which he referenced the educational philosophies of Plato (Loeng, 2017). The concept was then introduced to the United States by Malcolm Knowles in which he defined andragogy as "the art and science of helping adults to learn" (Knowles, 1968, p. 351), which was a distinguishment from pedagogy, which he defined as "the art and science of teaching children" (Knowles, 1968, p. 351). Andragogy is focused on the unique needs and motivations of adult learners, which are very different from those of children, requiring educators to view the process of educating adults differently.

Over the years, there has been some debate as to whether or not this is an actual theory or just a technique or best practice (Hartree, 1984; Davenport & Davenport, 1985; Pratt, 1993). Critics have also been concerned that this theory lacks the proper empirical basis (Jarvis, 1984; Davenport, 1987). However, current literature on andragogy includes its ability to be applied to any field that serves adult learners (Sato et al., 2017), the value of extrinisic motivation (Youde, 2018), and positive learning outcomes (Remenick & Goralnik, 2019).

Merriam (2001) summarized five assumptions which underly andragogy regarding adult learners based on Knowles' theory. The adult learner:

(1) has an independent self-concept and who can direct his or her own learning, (2) has accumulated a reservoir of life experiences that is a rich resource for learning, (3) has learning needs closely related to changing social roles, (4) is problem-centered and interested in immediate application of knowledge, and (5) is motivated to learn by internal rather than external factors. (p. 5)

It was from these assumptions that Knowles based his recommendations for implementing adult learning programs. Whether theory or just a best practice, these assumptions formed the foundation of what we know about adult learners, and is still relevant and applicable today.

Self-directed Learning

The concept was introduced in North America by Malcolm Knowles. He defined selfdirected learning as "a process in which individuals take the initiative, with or without the help of others, in diagnosing their learning needs, formulating learning goals, identifying human and material resources for learning, choosing and implementing appropriate learning strategies, and evaluating learning outcomes" (Knowles, 1975, p. 18). Knowles' work is based on what was started by Houle (1961) and Tough (1967, 1971) in Canada, and this concept became the foundation of understanding adult learning.

Current review on literature regarding self-directed learning reveals that it reinforces selfmanagement skills and goal setting (Khiat, 2017; van Wyk, 2017), builds life-long learning tendencies (Tekkol & Demirel, 2018; Rascón-Hernán et.al., 2019), is a fundamental competence for adult life (Morris, 2019), and it is applicable to a variety of different educational formats (Van Woezik et al., 2019). However, critics of self-directed learning say that students with disabilities may struggle with this concept (van Garderen et al., 2017), that the focus on the individual learner leaves students unprepared to navigate collective social issues (Servant-Miklos & Noordegraaf-Eelens, 2019), and that it lacks complete consensus to the actual meaning of the concept (van der Walt, 2019). Additionally, one study found that adults were conditioned to be dependent on their teachers, in contrast of the theory (Katsara & De Witte, 2019). Critiques such as these are uncommon, though, with the prevalence of the literature reaching consensus on the value of self-directed learning.

One study that seems key in the research of self-directed learning explored the concept of Open Space Learning. This format is an unstructured educational environment in which students decide what details to learn about a predetermined course or topic within that course, and then divided into groups with similar interests to teach each other the fundamentals of the chosen area within the confines of those topical groups. This is a forward-thinking approach to self-directed learning and an approach that relies almost completely on the student's ability to organize his or her thoughts about the information and then structure those thoughts into a coherent learning process (Van Woezik et al., 2019).

The study incorporated the experiences of 24 students participating in the open space learning experiment, 131 total students in the class, all of whom were in their sophomore year of college. All students in the study had the traditional, structured coursework available to them. Initially, the study groups merely copied the traditional course, but as they became more comfortable with the material, they changed tactics and techniques to better reflect the culture of the individual groups. In the end, on the final exam, the self-directed groups scored an insignificantly lower score on the exam than did those in the traditional classroom, meaning the self-directed style of learning was almost identical in outcomes to the seated program (Van Woezik, et. Al, 2019).

Five Pillars of Online Learning

The Alfred P. Sloan Foundation's Sloan Consortium developed the Five Pillars of Online Learning in the late 1990's, as online education was just beginning to be recognized. The five pillars consist of learning effectiveness, cost effectiveness, access, student satisfaction, and faculty satisfaction. The framework was established to measure and improve online educational programs (Online Learning Consortium, 2002). Even though online learning has evolved significantly since the framework's development, these concepts are still appropriate in today's educational environment.

Learning Effectiveness

Learning effectiveness means ensuring that the quality of instruction in online classes is at least as good as instruction in other formats (Online Learning Consortium, 2002). There are many factors that influence learning effectiveness, such as the personal motivation of the student, the climate of the classroom, the teaching methods used, and the level of the course (Comer et al., 2015). Interaction with students is an important component in an online learning environment because it encourages collaboration and enhances learning outcomes (Shukor et al., 2015; Sun et al., 2017) as well as increases the level of student engagement in an online course (Moradi et al., 2018). It is also important to understand what motivates a student to learn, both intrinsically and extrinsically as those motivations impact the student's success (Anthony Jr et.al., 2019; Zaccone & Pedrini, 2019). Finally, for learning to be effective, a student's interest in learning must be cultivated so that participation in their own learning is increased (Ma et al., 2017).

One area that is receiving attention regarding digital learning effectiveness is in educational games. The use of games in the classroom can assist instructors in gauging how well students understand the material while students with differing abilities are able to learn at an individual pace (Callaghan et al., 2018). Also referred to as gamification, it "reflects a social phenomenon arising with a generation of digitally literate people" (Alsawaier, 2019, p. 373). When used in an academic setting, gamification can increase learning effectiveness by increasing student motivation to complete assignments, fostering engagement with the instructor, and allowing students to develop critical thinking skills (Alsawaier, 2019). However, while the use of gamification can enhance learning objectives in short-term assignments, games can lose their novelty when overused in the digital classroom so they should be used judiciously and to achieve a specific learning outcome (Sanchez et al., 2020).

In a study that tested the efficacy of online, interactive learning tools, researchers surveyed 215 students, and of those, obtained 197 valid responses. The study was majority women (53%) and about 73% of the surveyed population was between 21 and 30 years old. About 76% of the respondents were employed, either part time or full time. The researchers used a Likert scale survey to measure the respondents' satisfaction with a type of online learning management system called LearnSmart (Sun et al., 2017).

The researchers found that the online learning software encouraged learning and increased the students' perception of their own competence. They also found that in a lot of ways, an online learning tool was more adaptable than a human instructor, thus providing more challenge to the students, encouraging them to learn more and study more diligently. One critique of this research, however, is the software itself, as it was proprietary and thus the results of this research might not be extrapolatable to other populations or other users of different types of software, depending on its specific characteristics (Sun et al., 2017).

A particular theme arises in the literature when attempting to understand the effectiveness of online learning versus in-classroom learning. That theme is the intrinsic motivation of the student, particularly the specific behaviors of the student attempting the learning (Ma et al., 2017). In a couple studies (Moradi et al., 2018; Shukor et al., 2015) the students' ability to control how they learned increased their motivation to learn, generating higher test scores, which is a correlative outcome of increased learning.

Cost Effectiveness

Cost effectiveness is defined as offering improved services at a lower cost (Online Learning Consortium, 2002). Cost effectiveness analysis, while very common in the business world, is rarely used in education. However, it can be very useful in determining if one intervention will be more effective than another, such as comparing a new instructional strategy versus a reduction in class size (Levin & Belfield, 2015). Not only can a cost effectiveness analysis determine if the intervention will be successful, but it can also help determine if the cost of the new intervention will justify its expense (Tolsgaard et.al., 2015; Aitken, 2016). This data is useful in maximizing resources in academic environments where resources are limited.

Digital learning can be considered cost effective on many different levels. An online class, once created, can be taught numerous times in an online setting, to potentially hundreds of students versus dozens of students as in a traditional classroom (Nguyen, 2015). Another important consideration is comparing the cost of a traditional student to an online student. One study found that when students are combined, as in an online course, rather than taught in small groups, the cost savings is between 36-57%, due in large part to the savings in the cost of staffing (Bowen et al., 2012). Additional savings for online courses include the fixed costs of using classroom and lab spaces on campus, such as heating, cooling, cleaning, security (Bowen, et. al, 2012).

A common theme found in the body of research concerning the cost effectiveness of online learning versus traditional, seated learning is a focus on learning institutions finding ways to cut costs without sacrificing quality. For instance, Cheslock et al., (2016) found that a learning institution changing the composition of its faculty and instructional personnel and then incorporating various technologies to engage students would likely produce the desired results. Other research, in keeping with the theme of cost effectiveness of online learning, noted that experiential learning, as possible through the online medium, tended to provide increased student learning rates and success (Meyer, 2014; Walker, 2019).

Access

Access is defined as all students who wish to learn online have a wide variety of courses (Online Learning Consortium, 2002). As students become more connected to the internet and use their personal technology for education, online learning will continue to increase in popularity and schools will need to make their courses more accessible to these students (Ragusa & Crampton, 2017). The use of mobile technology such as laptops, tablets, and cell phones has increased student access by giving them the flexibility of utilizing learning technologies when it is convenient for them (Padmo et al., 2019). The most effective method of ensuring access to online learning, however, continues to be a high level of support from learning institutions, which are highly instrumental in increasing students' confidence level with online tools through the development of the skills to use them (King & Boyatt, 2015).

A mixed methods study in the British Journal of Educational Technology found that while online education "pluralized" higher education (Ragusa & Crampton, 2017), the biggest problem with online education was students' perception of it. This study found that while 78% of the 289 participants considered online education to be roughly equivalent to traditional, seated education, a common theme in the responses was that employers have mixed reactions to online degrees. However, a critique of this finding is that the actual responses from employers toward the online degree could not be validated with respect to the respondents' feeling toward employers and their acceptance of the online degree. In other words, it is impossible to know if the online degree was the reason for the potential employer's rejection of the application, or if it was a different characteristic of the applicant and the employer merely used the online degree as a scapegoat.

The overall theme in the literature, however, is that online learning is beneficial for both student outcomes and the availability of education to those who might not have access to seated instruction. This is especially true for specialized degrees (Maas, 2017) and members of any population not near a metropolitan area (Mehmood et al., 2016). The biggest draw for online learning seems to be how many students can access it, irrespective of the quality of education received.

With regards to access, accessibility must also be considered, which is the ability for any student, irrespective of their disability, to have the same educational experience as that of their non-disabled classmates (Rehabilitation Act of 1973). This is mandated by federal law and enforced by the U.S. Department of Education, Office of Civil Rights. Institutions have struggled with implementing accessibility in online courses, specifically for students with vision or hearing impairments (Huss & Eastep, 2016). Institutions need to ensure that any technology component that students see or hear is accessible, including every part of its website, and every area within the Learning Management System that students use for online classes (Shaheen & Watulak, 2019).

Online learning is especially helpful for simulating realistic educational environments when on-site training with physical instruments or hands-on training is not available. A study by Alfred et al., (2016) found that, while technical instruction with physical objects was superior in many ways, simulated training in an online environment provided nearly equivalent value to participants. This study found that virtually the only variables affecting learning outcomes were

36
the students' desire to learn and cognitive ability. The 44 students who participated had nearly the same level of learning outcomes in the online class as those in seated, traditional classrooms.

Before any programming on any online learning management system is started, the institution making the conversion to online learning must ask itself if their courseware is accessible by students with considerable impairments. This could range from technology deficits to connectivity issues, but another aspect the school must consider is if and how a school can address accessibility to students who have disabilities. While online learning does improve the chances of the disabled receiving education quality similar to their able-bodied peers, the fact that a school merely has an online program might not mean it has adapted that program for those with disabilities. Shaheen and Watulak (2019) directly address this in their review of the literature pertaining to this topic.

This review discusses how specific disabilities can be compensated for through the use of the technology and how that technology should be developed with the assistance of people who would use it (Hashey & Stahl, 2014). Additionally, though various technologies exist to assist the disabled, that does not mean every disability is addressed through technology and its implementation into the digital learning environment. While this review addressed accessibility for the disabled in grades Kindergarten through high school senior, the tools, tactics, and technologies should certainly be applied in higher education for adult learners.

While most of the literature tends to praise online learning as a way to equalize and pluralize education for those with disabilities or the inability to attend traditional, seated class, a common theme found in several studies is the lack of personalization of education. For instance, several studies found that online learning did not provide educational support much improved from traditional learning (Bowen et al., 2012; Cheng & Chau, 2016; van Rensburg, 2019). While

this will certainly improve over time and with improvements in technology, for now, online learning does fall behind traditional, seated learning in some ways, particularly with immediate or direct support.

One study that stood out in the literature was Huss and Estep's (2016) research into how well-versed teachers and faculty are with regulations pertaining to the American Disabilities Act and the Workforce Rehabilitation Act as they relate to online accessibility of their institution's courseware. This seems to be an important factor in how well the courseware could be converted from the seated programs into the online programs and not completely understanding compliance and accommodation procedures encoded in US law could bring unwanted scrutiny and legal action against the institution. This is after considering the moral questions inherent in failing to accommodate courseware for a person with a disability.

The researchers surveyed 92 faculty members of a mid-sized, suburban university, using a 14-choice instrument that measured the participants' knowledge of civil rights laws pertaining to persons with disabilities and how those regulations are being considered by their university. The results are discouraging, as nearly three quarters of the participants were unaware of even built-in features of popular text-based software, such as Word and Adobe, that compensated for the visually impaired. Of those who knew of those features' existence, the majority had never used those accommodations and did not know how to do so. Similar results were discovered for faculty's knowledge of accessibility for the hearing impaired. Many of the qualitative responses noted that the teachers felt it was the administration's responsibility to make such accommodations, rather than the individual instructor's responsibility.

Accessibility and Learning Outcomes

A criticism of the online learning environment versus hands-on, seated programs is the view that technical training is less effective online than it can be face-to-face in a classroom (Zacharia & Olympiou, 2011). Irrespective of the validity of that view, learning accessibility is a vital part of learning outcomes and online course instruction is recognized as a venue to increase technical proficiency, often to the same level as seated instruction (Zacharia, 2007). This aspect of online learning, proficiency equivalence or learning outcomes, is well studied.

In a study designed specifically to test the efficacy of online learning environments compared to physical learning environments, researchers examined multiple student characteristics against the two types of learning environments and reported the outcomes. The study included 48 participants with no recent experience or education in the building of circuit boards, all of whom were students at the same university (Clemson) and recruited through various social means, such as email, flyers, and word of mouth. More than half were women (62.5%) and only about one-third were engineering students (Alfred et al., 2018).

The researchers found that the online accessibility of the learning environment did generate effectiveness in learning the material, but the students in the physical environment learned faster and were more accurate in their learned tasks. This was not found to be a detriment to the effectiveness of the online environment, but a way to understand how to improve the online learning environment to increase its effectiveness relative to a physical learning environment. One of the limitations of this study, however, is that all the participants were traditional college students, and the sample size was low. Future studies should include a higher sample of adult learners and a larger cohort (Alfred et al., 2018). There is a considerable amount of research devoted to determining how to best increase accessibility to students who cannot attend physical classrooms, while at the same time ensuring learning outcomes are as close as possible to those same physical classroom environments. A main theme in the literature, however, is not related to the actual learning outcomes, but equality of accessibility, overcoming the skill deficit of computer literacy or defeating the many challenges of internet connectivity (Barnard-Ashton et al., 2017; van Rensburg, 2018; Grealy, 2015;) or physical limitations that might hinder learning, irrespective of instruction quality or internet connectivity (Ryan, 2016). These basic problems seem to be the biggest obstacle to the implementation of online courses for schools who are incorporating technology in their instruction for the sake of doing so, rather than for the benefit of increased learning outcomes (Rose, 2018).

Student Satisfaction

Student satisfaction is defined as when students are pleased with their online learning experience (Online Learning Consortium, 2002). Another definition is when a student's expectations are exceeded by repeated experiences (Elliott & Shin, 2002). Student satisfaction is a metric that administrators observe closely, as there are many different factors that affect a student's learning experience, as measured by their level of satisfaction. Students emphasized the desired to be entertained (Bornschlegl & Cashman, 2019) and to have social interaction with their classmates (Cheng & Chau, 2016; Nortvig et al., 2018; Alqurashi, 2019). Students who are satisfied with their learning experience will also receive a higher quality of knowledge and improved learning outcomes (Waheed et al., 2016). Finally, students who are satisfied with their learning experience have a higher retention rate (Braun & Zolfagharian, 2016).

An important component of student satisfaction is the prevalent use of social media for students to voice their satisfaction, or complaints, which could have a positive, or negative, impact on public image of the institution (Koshkin et al., 2017). In some markets where competition is high, such as popular online programs, institutions need to view students as customers in terms of how they are treated and to ensure they are satisfied with the services they receive, and if they are not satisfied, allow them to voice their concerns privately, and not publicly (Allen & Withey, 2017). This will in turn make the student feel heard and protect the public image of the college from unnecessary bad publicity.

A groundbreaking study conducted in 2016 found a direct relationship between the neverbefore-measured variable of "student propensity to participate" and satisfaction with the online course (Braun & Zolfagharian, 2016). This study, which surveyed 89 undergraduates, of which 91% were Hispanic and about 64% male, found that students with higher propensity to participate in online learning attributed success in their courses to their own level of participation in academic advising, which directly contributed to their satisfaction with the institution and their own learning outcomes. While this study is the first of its kind to measure these variables together, the oversampling of males and Hispanics might not make this study generalizable to other populations.

Multiple studies in the body of literature show that student satisfaction is directly related to the students' own confidence in their ability to succeed in the class, their competence with the software used by the institution, and the quality of knowledge gained by the student during the course (Alqurashi, 2019; Waheed et al., 2016; Cheng & Chau, 2016). The common theme found in the literature, then, is not student satisfaction itself, but what the antecedents to student satisfaction are and how they can be identified. This an interesting finding, considering the

purpose of this study is an attempt to determine the relationship between instructor self-efficacy and student success.

Faculty Satisfaction

Faculty satisfaction is defined as when faculty are pleased with their online teaching experience (Online Learning Consortium, 2002). With 70.8% of institutions reporting that online education is critical to their long-term strategy (Allen & Seaman, 2015), administrators must look at the impact of online teaching on faculty. Some of the factors that influence a faculty's sense of satisfaction include the need to feel supported to teach online, both with administrative support and technical support (Howe et al., 2018; Luongo, 2018) as well as a good work-life balance (Denson et al., 2018).

With regards to teaching online, faculty are also concerned with receiving ongoing training for online teaching technologies (Wingo et al., 2017) and that they are compensated fairly (Cerci & Dumludag, 2019; Webber, 2019). A faculty's attitude and confidence about their ability to teach effectively in an online environment affects their perception of online learning, and therefore their satisfaction with both their own performance and with the institution for which they work (Martin et al., 2019; Perry & Steck, 2019).

The most common theme found in the body of literature concerning instructor and faculty satisfaction is that of the flexibility of online education. Online instructors are not confined to a classroom, not bound to a strict schedule, and viewed the addition of technology to their teaching repertoire as welcome (Shea, 2007; Green et al., 2009; Chapman, 2011; Wingo et al., 2017). Surely, then, this theme of faculty satisfaction could contribute to a more productive learning environment and, potentially, increased instructor self-efficacy.

As more traditional learning institutions change their courseware to support online instruction, instructors that once taught face-to-face will have to adapt their teaching styles to the new medium. For such a drastic transformation, researchers studied the effectiveness and satisfaction of 185 instructors in a nursing program and tested their levels of satisfaction. The vast majority of the sample, almost 95%, were women, with more than 75% of the surveyed instructors being over 50 years old. The researchers used online surveys to measure instructor satisfaction, which found that, after years of teaching traditional, seated instruction, online course facilitation offered the same level of satisfaction (Howe et al., 2018; Shea, 2019). A critique of the study would be that its subjects-- older, female nurses-- would likely not extrapolate to populations with a drastically different makeup.

Related Literature

Adult Learners

There are two classifications of adult learners: Traditional and non-traditional students. Traditional students are between the ages of 18-24, are enrolled in college full-time, and reside at the college (Metzner & Bean, 1987). Traditional students transition to college directly from high school, and account for 49% of enrolled students (U.S. Department of Education, 2016). The remaining 51% of students are non-traditional, age 25 or older who do not reside at the institution and can be enrolled either full-time or part-time. With non-traditional student enrollment expected to grow 34% in the next ten years (U.S. Department of Education, 2016), institutions need to focus on ways to best meet the needs of its non-traditional students (Woods & Frogge, 2017).

Non-traditional students often need to satisfy lower-level needs like housing, food, and transportation, which can interfere with their educational goals (Jacoby, 2015). Non-traditional

students can require a higher level of technical support as they must learn both the educational technology and the course content simultaneously (Cherrstrom et al., 2019). Non-traditional students need more social and academic support than their traditional counterparts (Remenick, 2019) and they often stuggle with barriers such as lack of childcare and lack of financial resources (Hunter-Johnson, 2017). Finally, non-traditional students are more diverse and more likely to be first-generation college students (Rabourn et al., 2018) and are less likely to graduate because of the competing priorities they face balancing their home, work, and school (Ellis, 2019).

Online Education

Online education, also referred to as distance education or e-learning, has evolved significantly from the first online course taught in 1981 (Harasim, 2000) to the present, where almost half of all college students are enrolled in online programs (Ginder et al., 2019). Defined as "instruction delivered on a digital device that is intended to support learning" (Clark & Mayer, 2016, p. 30), online education is quickly becoming the most popular mode of educational delivery, with almost 90% of four-year colleges now offering courses and entire degree programs completely online (Sun & Chen, 2016). However, while online education is popular with students, faculty struggle to adapt their seated courses to an online delivery mode, especially in situations where the faculty is significantly older and not as technologically proficient as their students, who are tech-savvy and expect high levels of technology integration in every area of life (Morreale & Staley, 2016).

Common themes in the research have provided a glimpse into what online instructors and their learning institutions can do to make online learning more effective. In particular, teaching presence and social presence seem to be prevalent factors in programs that experience higher success. Teaching presence is the integration of facts and information in a classroom environment, in addition to question responsiveness and helping students engage in their own learning (Garrison et al., 2001; Keengwe & Kidd, 2010; Pelz, 2010). This is an important factor in the success of seated classrooms, so it makes sense that the research has identified this factor as a component of success in online courses.

The other factor, social presence, while not new, seems to have been noted in a considerable amount of literature as a proven technique for effective learning environments in the digital classroom. Social presence is similar to teaching presence, without the knowledge or educational component. It is the communicator's ability to express themselves through emotion and promote group cohesion (Short et al., 1976; Garrison et.al., 2001). In a digital environment, this can be more difficult than a traditional classroom, forming a bond with the instructor is as important and has been identified as a key factor in student success in the digital classroom (Kehrwald, 2008; Payne, 2009). So, while the actual learning environment is drastically different-- face-to-face instruction versus a digital classroom-- it seems that some of the same skills required to be a competent instructor and ensuring student success are the same.

Course Success Rates

The course success rate, also referred to as the course completion rate, reflects the institutional culture of the organization as it pertains to student success and correlates with student satisfaction (Moore & Fetzner, 2009). The course success rate is calculated by dividing the number of students who complete a course with a grade of A, B, or C by the number of students who start the course (Bishop et al., 2018). For example, if 25 students start a course, and 20 complete the course with a C or higher, the course success rate is 80%. The course success rate is an important metric for institutions because it can lead to increased completion

(graduation) rates (Walker, 2019), and it can be used to make data-informed decisions by administrators for changes to courses and professional development for faculty (Stout, 2016). **Student Success**

Student success can be defined in many ways. To the student, success almost certainly means a passing GPA and the completion of his or her degree program (Afkhaminia et al., 2018). But it is the first year of the student's academic program and how well the student adjusts to the new environment, the strength of the psychological foundation imparted by the institution, and their proficiency with critical thinking skills that most often predict the eventual success in their academic programs (van der Zanden et al., 2019).

To the institution and its instructors, success is defined in many ways, but has multiple contributing factors. These factors could include student retention levels (Muljana & Luo, 2019), graduation rates and instructor proficiency (Manteufel & Karimi, 2018), all of which are indicators of successful students as a whole. Instructors and institutions' goals for student success should be intertwined (Carpenter et al., 2016).

To the community and greater society, student success means increased competitiveness in the global economy by both the workforce as a whole and the national economy, compared to its peers. In less than a decade, at the current rate of economic growth, 11 million degreerequiring jobs will be vacant, due to the lack of qualified graduates to fill them (Mehaffy, 2018). This first requires student success at the basic level of college entry, which is the ability to maintain and express remedial skills required at the college level, which includes math, reading, and writing proficiency adequate enough to qualify for even a Community College education (Mourad & Hong, 2017). This literature review covers many concepts and discusses many studies which contribute to the industry's understanding of student success. This could range from teacher efficacy to adherence to legal requirements for ensuring students with a disability receive equivalent quality of education to increasing the students' sense of self-efficacy. However, one topic not yet discussed, but covered in an important study, is the importance of student placement in courses for which they are qualified and will have the most success. Mourad and Hong (2017) cover this topic well in their study of a diverse group community college students who opted not to take a developmental reading course prior to the start of the first semester.

This study compared the academic fates of 481 students, 159 of which opted out of a developmental reading course and began their first semester. The resulting data were not consistent across the cohort concerning whether a reading comprehension class added to the success of the student, however, reading ability was a consistent factor, particularly in minority demographics, such as African Americans. Meaning, in multiple studies (Cho et al., 2012; Jaggars et al., 2015), including this one, placement of students in courses that properly prepare them for their future coursework might significantly affect their future success with that coursework. This must be a consideration when attempting to determine a student's viability for success in online college and the digital learning environment.

Instructor Self-Efficacy

Faculty and administrators have a responsibility to create a supported environment in which instructors feel safe and can seek help to positively affect their own job performance. This kind of empowerment promotes personal and professional growth, leading to increased selfefficacy (Ferencz, 2017). High instructor self-efficacy operates concurrently with student selfefficacy, as teachers and students share the responsibility for success in the classroom, leading to the students viewing themselves as the agents of their own change (Bidabadi et al., 2016). While knowledge of the taught material is important, knowledge alone is not enough; the self-efficacy of a teacher, to include college professors and instructors of online courses, has been consistently shown as the essential ingredient in the success of students in every learning environment (Mahler et al., 2018).

Other characteristics that supplement the instructor's perception of their own self-efficacy is emotional intelligence and the instructor's ability to operate independently without the influence of the team composed of his or her fellow faculty members. Current research demonstrates that higher emotional intelligence and self-efficacy are positively correlated but that neither gender nor experience mediated that effect (Wu, et al., 2019). Because self-efficacy is the individual's belief in their own ability to perform a directed task in a specific environment to a pre-determined level of quality (Dellinger et al., 2008, p. 752), instructors would benefit from training that simulates the actual environment in which they will be teaching. Such realism is highly likely to improve individual self-efficacy, which typically negates other extenuating factors such as time stress and teacher burnout (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2019).

Efficacy in Student Engagement

Consistent communication to the students from instructors is considered a positive method of meaningful engagement (Scholl et al., 2017). The more opportunities the instructor must create positive experiences with the students, the better student functioning tends to be, which creates positive expectations about student academic abilities, leading to increased learning and academic progress (Hughes et al., 2012). This consistent communication decreases stress in both the student and instructor, and this decrease in stress significantly predicts positive outcomes in teaching quality and student engagement (Wong et al., 2017).

A considerable amount of research shows that additional training for instructors in various methods of engaging students increases both their sense of self-efficacy in student engagement and the quality of their student engagement (Bradshaw et al., 2018). This is a recurring theme in the research, that teacher education programs improve the instructor's sense of self-efficacy in student engagement and their actual efficacy in student engagement. This implies connection between training, the increase in self-efficacy, and instructor efficacy in engagement, especially when the teacher promotes a culture of engagement within the classroom (Daniels et al., 2017; Draus et al., 2014; Jepson & Ryan, 2018; Li et al., 2017)

A 2019 study of 467 Chinese middle school teachers who were trained in online courseware showed that even in an online environment, emotional intelligence was a key characteristic of the instructors that were the most effective in their digital classrooms (Wu et.al., 2019). In particular, emotional intelligence was the primary element of instructor self-efficacy and these two components, emotional intelligence, and self-efficacy, were the main drivers of classroom performance. This study, in which almost two-thirds (66.8%) of the cohort was female and 76% were below 40 years old, measured their online classroom performance compared with their self-reported self-efficacy as a teacher. The researchers also measured their level of emotional intelligence through a validated survey intended specifically for teachers' level of self-efficacy.

In summary, at least with teachers that closely match the demographics of this study, there seems to be a strong correlation between emotional intelligence and instructor self-efficacy in the digital classroom. This could potentially mean that if a learning institution wants to increase its instructors' self-efficacy, it might be beneficial to first increase their emotional intelligence, or at least increase them concurrently. However, a potential critique to the application of this study would be its surveyed cohort's applicability to different populations with varied demographic and cultural composition.

One study made an interesting connection between instructor self-efficacy and student engagement. The research involved 18 elementary and middle schools, with 143 participants, all of whom were teachers at those schools. During the study, the researchers held focus groups in which the participants shared their perspectives concerning local and national policy initiatives and whether those initiatives increased or decreased both their trust in the school administration and their sense of personal agency in the classroom. While the instructors were well-trained, as they were directly part of national initiatives to increase test scores, the researchers discovered that an additional element, the teachers' sense of personal agency, had a great effect on their efficacy in student engagement. Efficacy in student engagement and an increased sense of personal agency must be an emphasis of the organization, not an afterthought (Wilcox & Lawson, 2018).

Efficacy in Instructional Strategies

Different from student engagement, efficacy in instructional strategies means the instructor is effective at teaching the course material. Self-efficacy in this skill means the teacher believes they have the skill to be effective at this task (Chichekian & Shore, 2016). This can be accomplished through motivational training, but also with practical, real-world training and its connection to pedagogic theory; this would also include techniques in dealing with students' disruptive and negative behavior in the classroom (Juuti et al., 2018). The mere presence of motivational, technological, and pedagogical support by the institution typically positively impacts teachers' self-efficacy, so it would be in the best interest of the institution to ensure those resources are available to its faculty and staff (Christian, 2017).

A study that investigated the relationship between teacher self-efficacy and how their increased sense of self-efficacy for instruction translated into increased efficacy in classroom instruction (Ciampa & Gallagher, 2018). The researchers surveyed 173 new Canadian and American elementary school teachers in a study that addressed two research questions directly related to the relationship between their self-efficacy in instruction and their actual instructional ability. The pertinent finding in this research was that the new teachers who also received higher levels of coursework during their educational programs related to increasing their skills in classroom instruction (Ciampa & Gallagher, 2018). However, the researchers also found that instruction alone inflated the new teachers' sense of efficacy, which decreased once they were actually in a classroom with students and understood the nature of classroom instruction. A definite limitation of this study is that it surveyed elementary school teachers, which may or may not translate to higher levels of educators, such as high school or college, or in different formats, such as online courses versus seated courses.

While a general theme encountered in the literature is that instruction for teachers to increase both their actual efficacy and their sense of self-efficacy is regarded as the most effective method (Chichekian & Shore, 2016; Ciampa & Gallagher, 2018; Lotter et.al., 2018), very little research, if any, focuses on other ways to increase teacher efficacy and self-efficacy in classroom instruction. For instance, Nwosu et al., (2019) noted that increasing teacher resilience in the face of novel challenges in the classroom increased teachers' self-efficacy, but this method of doing so is not well understood, despite seeming commonsensical. However, overall, other methods of increasing instructor self-efficacy in the classroom, aside from instruction in how to do so, must be explored (Lotter et al., 2018).

Efficacy in Classroom Management

Classroom management is a teachable skill that instructors can use to intervene during disruptions, plan around unexpected contingencies, and effectively manage time effectively for the purpose of maintaining a high culture of learning (Patterson et.al., 2017). There is a considerable amount of literature regarding this topic, and much of it contains the same theme: Training teachers to better manage the classroom increases their own self-efficacy and actual efficacy in that skill. The most common types of training mentioned in the literature are visualization and self-reflection.

Visualization and self-reflection are tools that require the teacher trainee to think about a given problem and multiple potential solutions, placing the teacher in an authentic classroom in which the taught skills are required, and then discussing the event and the trainee's performance after-the-fact (Kasson & Wilson, 2017; Kelleci et al., 2018; Watson & Marschall, 2019).While these seem to be the most widely use or accepted practices in increasing teachers' efficacy in classroom management, the trend in the literature points to limited engagement with students and a classroom environment at a slow pace before the teacher conducts a full class being the most effective training method.

One of the most common themes noted in the literature concerning efficacy in classroom management is a specific method to increase instructors' skill in that area. That specific method is self-reflection, which includes after-the-fact viewing of video by the trainee (Harlin, 2014; Kong, 2010) and guided self-reflection (Patterson & Seabrooks-Blackmore, 2017). No matter the method used, researchers seem to agree, through the literature, that instructional programs designed to increase teachers' self-efficacy is the most effective tool to actually increase that trait (Kurt et al., 2014; Pajares, 2002). In other words, educational institutions should not attempt to

leave improvement of the individual instructor's efficacy in classroom management to chance or depend on the instructor him or herself to improve that skill without support. Researchers agree that improving instructors' classroom management efficacy, in either seated programs or online programs, should be a top-down, guided, and institutionalized process, designed specifically to increase that skill.

Efficacy in Use of Computers

Teachers face various barriers to efficacy with technology, including their own resistance to integrating it into their own programs. This might include a lack of technical support but also a lack of obvious application of the technology already in their academic environments (Hsu, 2016). To overcome this resistance and to reduce the impediments to the integration of technology, educational institutions must apply current and new research as a solution (Siegel et al., 2017). This includes varying the opportunities and methods of technology integration in the online environment to create a balance between students' needs and the curriculum (Brzeski, 2014) and employing a wider variety of technology into the digital classroom (Coyne et al., 2017), both of which will likely improve attitudes and increase self-efficacy in the use of technology by teachers in the digital environment (Awofala et al., 2017).

As with most of the literature already discussed, the most commonly accepted method to increase both self-efficacy and actual effectiveness with computers and the various types of software online courses will use is repeated training with the tools the instructor will use (Srisupawong et al., 2018). The most common theme in the literature that researchers encounter when studying teacher self-efficacy is the resistance to new technology, particularly from older instructors who are generally uncomfortable with technology overall (Gudek, 2019; Lloyd et al., 2012; Reid, 2017). This is not an obstacle that cannot be overcome, as nearly every article that

noted this issue also described additional training as the course of action to improve teachers' familiarity with the software or learning management system, thus improving their self-efficacy.

One study that stood out in the review of literature was Gudek's study, which was published in 2019. In his research, Gudek noted that there was a distinct relationship between the participants' attitude toward technology and its use in the classroom, to include online classes, and those participants' sense of self-efficacy with computers and related technology (Gudek, 2019). This seems commonsensical, that a person who is proficient with technology would be more accepting of its implementation in the classroom, but the research confirmed this relationship. A criticism of the use of this article to apply to broader demographics is that the study was conducted on music teachers of elementary school students (Gudek, 2019). While teachers are the target demographic of the present study, the present research is focused on community college instructors, not elementary school teachers.

In this study, the researchers used validated tests to measure attitudes: A computer selfefficacy scale and a digital technology attitude scale. Both used Likert-style answers to 10 and 39 questions, respectively. The results of the surveys found a definite relationship between computer self-efficacy and attitudes toward computer use in the classroom, as previously mentioned. An interesting finding was that there was no relationship between the teachers' general knowledge of computers and the participants' self-efficacy but there was a relationship between knowledge of specific computer software and their levels of self-efficacy. Meaning, simply knowing how to use a computer did not affect their sense of self-efficacy but knowing how to use the software or having other, advanced, or special knowledge about computers did affect the participants' sense of self-efficacy. Additionally, this sense of self-efficacy dependent on the type of computer knowledge was generally in favor of male teachers, with female teachers lagging slightly behind (Gudek, 2019).

Faculty professional development

Because instructor and faculty skill in administering and using the courseware is the primary factor in ensuring the legal requirements of accessibility are met and a great enhancement of student success, professional development in those areas is critical to the success of online courses (Baran & Correia, 2014; Kerrick et al., 2015, Huss & Estep, 2016). It is therefore incumbent upon the academic institution to provide such training, early and often. This requires serious effort on the part of all stakeholders in higher education, as both the legal and economic requirements of the school must be met by professional development that meets those needs (Carpenter et al., 2016). All stakeholders must collaborate on this effort, as supporting digital learning requires skills from not only the instructors, but administrators and faculty in topics such as, course evaluation, instructional design, accessible materials creation, and even train-the-trainer courses for the faculty themselves (Mohr & Shelton, 2017).

Professional development is required not only for the hard skills, like programming, instructional design, and course evaluation, but also in the soft skills, such as providing flexibility in their approach to classroom instruction and understanding the various ways students learn in an online environment, if academic institutions want to improve student success (Wynants & Dennis, 2018). Institutions must pay attention to the instructor and faculty self ratings of various skills, while at the same time looking forward to provide skills and training in areas that might not be considered by the instructors and faculty, as online programs begin to require more resources. The success of these programs will be directly proportional to the relevance of the material and training provided by the institution to the participants of that training (Roberts, 2018).

Throughout this section the primary theme noted in the literature is the professional development of teachers in the classroom (Watson & Marschall, 2019), with the technology they will be using (Gudek, 2019), and for increased teaching efficacy and classroom management (Jepson & Ryan, 2018). While the techniques and methods for increasing efficacy and self-efficacy may be in debate throughout the literature, the fact that additional training during college and during onboarding of new teachers is reflected throughout the body of literature on this topic. More study is required to better understand the most effective trends and practices, as not much agreement can be found in the literature.

One study that was important to this theme was a case study which posited that professional development for teachers in the classroom should not begin when the teacher begins his or her profession, but during training for that profession (Watson & Marschall, 2019). The early start to the habitualization of professional development solidifies good habits, formalized personal learning techniques which can be improved over time, and increases self confidence and self-efficacy in the learner. Ultimately, professional development is a personal responsibility which the learning institution can formalize but the faculty must personally embrace, endorse, and in which they should routinely participate. Varying the problem sets in which the teachers must operate, to provide differing situations to which the instructor is exposed, should improve overall competence and self-efficacy, all of which is accomplished through rigorous and routine professional development.

Summary

The topics discussed in this literature review discuss various viewpoints with respect to increasing student success, improving instructor effectiveness, and enhancing individual self-efficacy in the online classroom. The starting point, however, is the operationalization of Knowles theory of adult learning and the five pillars of online learning. Academic institutions must recognize that older, non-traditional students require different resources than traditional students and the instructors that interact with those non-traditional students also require knowledge and skills to interact with and manage the students in their digital classrooms.

This training, so long as it is part of the institutional culture and provided to instructors on a regular basis, should improve student learning outcomes and instructor self-efficacy in many areas. The institution should conduct a needs assessment to determine which of those areas are most deserving of attention and provide training to their instructors for the purpose of mastering the material and overcoming obstacles that would inhibit instructor proficiency. This begins with instructional skills and training to employ new forms of technology but should also include motivational coaching to assist instructors in enhancing their own perception of their ability to integrate technology into a digital learning environment.

The research on this topic is far from exhaustive. While there is a significant amount of research on the promotion of self-efficacy in the classroom environment, there is a notable gap in the research concerning the relationship between instructor self-efficacy and course success rates. This is remarkable especially with relation to the online classroom environment, as skills required for student success in a seated classroom are markedly different than skills required for student success in an online classroom. This research should help fill the noted gap in this area by contributing to the current body of literature in this field by providing data usable by higher

education administrators, who can then focus resources in directions needed to build instructor self-efficacy and increase student success.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Overview

This chapter includes the methods that were used to conduct this study. This chapter will discuss the research design, the participants and setting, and the instrument that was used. A detailed explanation will be given of the data collection process and procedures used to conduct the study. This chapter will conclude with a comprehensive explanation of the statistical analysis and rationale, data screening measures, assumption tests, alpha level, and effect size for the hypothesis.

Design

A correlational design is used to show the relationship between variables and the extent to which the variables are related (Seeram, 2019). The purpose of this predictive correlational study was to determine to what extent an instructor's perception of their academic self-efficacy in student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers as an online instructor can predict their online course success rate. The course success rate is calculated by dividing the number of students who complete an online course with a grade of A, B, or C by the number of students who start the course (Bishop, Martirosyan, Saxon, & Lane, 2018). This section describes the predictive correlational design of this study and the rationale of this design selection.

A quantitative non-experimental predictive correlational design was used for this study. This design is most appropriate for this study given the data for this research were collected numerically using a survey instrument and those data were analyzed statistically and compared with prior research using an objective, unbiased approach (Creswell, 2015). As mentioned in Chapter One, following are the definitions of the variables for this research:

- *Self-Efficacy* the personal belief about oneself and how one uses the skills one possesses under various conditions (Bandura, 1997).
- Student Engagement Engagement with students is comprised of several factors, including facilitating an active learning environment, appropriate levels of academic rigor, and dynamic communication with students (Coates, 2007).
- Instructional Strategies A process to employ educational tactics and goals designed to
 elicit specific behavior in learners, using structure and goals that will accomplish the
 desired strategy (Sangwan, 2019).
- *Classroom Management* The management of student behaviors and organization of the classroom are primary concerns for educators. These skills are demonstrated through the formation of daily routines, which save time and promote good order within the classroom. These elements of classroom management are necessary if the educator expects the students to have positive learning experiences and meet the overall learning outcomes as defined by academic program (Rawlings Lester, et al. 2017).
- Use of Computers The use of computers falls into three elements: Basic skills, informational, and learning. Basic skills are a demonstration of students' information technology knowledge; the use of computers as an informational tool is a gauge of how well the student can use technology to research; and, finally, the use of computers as a learning tool is a demonstration of students' ability to practice their knowledge and skills (Tondeur, et al. 2008).

Research Question

RQ1: How accurately can an online instructor's online course success rate be predicted from a linear combination of their academic self-efficacy factors?

Null Hypothesis

Ho1: There is no significant predictive relationship between the criterion variable (online course success rate) for online instructors, and the predictor variables (self-efficacy in student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers as an online instructor).

Participants and Setting

The participants for the study were faculty at a community college in North Carolina. The college serves three rural counties and hosts a diverse student population in terms of age, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status. An online survey was sent to faculty who taught either a hybrid course or a 100% online course in the Fall 2020 semester. A hybrid course is defined as a class "in which instruction takes place in a traditional classroom setting augmented by computer-based or online activities which can replace classroom seat time" (Scida & Saury, 2006, p. 518). Faculty were asked background characteristic questions, including their gender, age, ethnicity, highest degree level, years of teaching experience, full-time or adjunct status, if they have ever taken an online class as a student, and the subject matter that they teach (Table 1).

Table 1

Background Characteristics (N=65)

Characteristic	Category	Ν	%
Gender	Man	16	24.6
	Woman	40	61.5

	Non-binary	1	1.5
	Prefer Not to Answer	1	1.5
	Missing	7	10.8
Age Range	18-24 Years Old	1	1.5
	25-34 Years Old	10	15.4
	35-44 Years Old	17	26.2
	45-54 Years Old	17	26.2
	55-64 Years Old	12	18.5
	65-74 Years Old	1	1.5
	Missing	7	10.8
Highest Degree Level	Associate Degree	10	15.4
	Bachelor's Degree	8	12.3
	Master's degree	36	7.7
	Doctorate Degree	5	55.4
	Missing	6	9.2
Ethnicity	American Indian or Alaskan Native	1	1.5
	Asian	1	1.5
	Black or African American	9	13.8
	Hispanic	2	3.1
	White	44	67.7
	Missing	8	12.3
Current Employment Status	Adjunct Faculty, Continuing Education	2	3.1
	Adjunct Faculty, Curriculum	18	27.7

	Full-Time Faculty, Curriculum			
	34	52.3		
	Continuing Education and Curriculum			
	Missing	7	4.6	
Experience in Years	0-4 Years	17	26.2	
	5-9 Years	16	24.6	
	10-14 Years	12	18.5	
	15-19 Years	8	12.3	
	20-24 Years	5	7.7	
	25 or More Years	1	1.5	
	Missing	6	9.2	
Online Student Experience*	Yes	52	80.0	
	No	6	9.2	
	Missing	7	10.8	

A total of 65 faculty participated in the survey which resulted in a 0.082 effect size (R^2) at a statistical power of 0.510 for an alpha level of 0.05, and a response rate of 21.7%. The implications of which are discussed at length in chapter five. Classical statistical theory typically uses n=30 as a minimum threshold to determine if the central limit theorem can be applied to a survey that receives lower response rates than expected. While this is not especially preferable, particularly from the standpoint of being precise, this precedent has been used many times and can therefore be justified in its use here.

Instrumentation

The instrument used for this research was the Michigan Nurse Educators Sense of Efficacy for Online Teaching Scale (MNESEOTS) (Robinia, 2008). This instrument was created by Kristi Robinia for her dissertation with Western Michigan University to measure the selfefficacy of faculty who were teaching online classes. This instrument was a modification of another instrument, the Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES) (Tschannen-Moran & Hoy, 2001), which was intended for K-12 teachers. Robinia modified a few questions and added some questions pertinent to teaching online courses to develop the MNESEOTS instrument for her research and its application to higher education.

This instrument was appropriate for this research because it assesses faculty self-efficacy by asking faculty 32 different questions to get a comprehensive picture of how a faculty feels about their abilities as an online instructor. Researchers have used the MNESEOTS in dissertation research, (Black, 2019, King-Jones, 2013; Richter, 2015; Steffens, 2018; Vilkas, 2017; and Wiseman, 2017), and the MNESEOTS has been published in several peer-reviewed journal articles, (Corry & Stella, 2018; Horvitz, Beach, Anderson & Xia, 2015; and Robinia & Anderson, 2010). This instrument is not exclusive to nurse educators and has been used for other types of educators as well (Black, 2019, King-Jones, 2013; Richter, 2015; Steffens, 2018, Vilkas, 2017; and Wiseman, 2017) because the questions in the instrument are not specific to any type of teaching discipline. While other researchers have used the MNESEOTS in their research to assess faculty self-efficacy, there is no research that shows using the MNESEOTS to predict the success of online courses for instructors (Black, 2019, King-Jones, 2013; Richter, 2013; Richter, 2015; Steffens, 2015; Steffens, 2018, Vilkas, 2018, Vilkas, 2017; and Wiseman, 2017).

Reliability of the MNESEOTS was evaluated first by Robinia with two pilot tests of participants to refine the wording of the survey instruments. It then underwent a series of statistical tests, showing a reliability coefficient of .80 verifying that each question was onedimensional (Robinia, 2008). From there, examination of reliability revealed that the coefficient alphas were "student engagement = .926, classroom management = .929, instructional strategies = .942, and computer skills = .857. The reliability coefficient for the instrument as a whole = .926" (Robinia 2008, p. 73). Validity was confirmed through interrater agreement by an expert panel of three experienced online faculty followed by a pilot study of 15 educators (Robinia & Anderson, 2010). These results indicated that this instrument is reliable and valid for research purposes (Gall et al., 2007).

The MNESEOTS scale of measurement is a Likert scale, ranging from one to nine, with the categories as follows: 1-2, Nothing; 3-4, Very Little; 5, Some; 6-7, Quite a Bit; 8-9, A Great Deal. When taking the survey, faculty were asked to apply the prefix of "I can do…" to answer each of the 32 questions. The highest possible score on this scale is 288, indicating that the faculty has the highest possible perception of their self-efficacy as an online instructor, and the lowest possible score on this scale is 32, meaning that the faculty has the lowest possible perception of their self-efficacy as an online instructor. There are a total of eight questions asked in each category (self-efficacy in student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers as an online instructor). Permission to use the MNESEOTS for this research was granted by the creator (see Appendix A). See Appendix B for the instrument.

Procedures

IRB approval and permission from the community college was obtained. See Appendix D

for IRB approval. The survey questions were placed in an online survey using Qualtrics®. A pilot study was not required since this instrument has been previously validated. The Institutional Effectiveness and Research (IER) department at the community college sent out a survey link to all faculty teaching curriculum courses online (100% online or hybrid) in Fall 2020 for the survey via Qualtrics®.

Survey data were collected by the IER department at CCCC and will be stored remotely on a server at Qualtrics® for a period of at least three years before being permanently deleted. Only the IER department will have online access to the data through Qualtrics®, the researcher will not have access to the raw survey data. Per the college's data research policy, the data were deidentified and given to the researcher to analyze once collection was completed.

Participants were told that their participation was voluntary and anonymous and will take 5-10 minutes of their time. Participant consent was given digitally, prior to completing the survey. See Appendix F for participant consent form. Participants were given the opportunity to participate in a drawing for one of six \$50.00 Amazon gift cards if they chose to submit their name and email address separately at the end of the survey. The collection time was four weeks, and emails were sent out at week two and week three to remind participants of the deadline. Data collection continued until the minimum sample size was met. Once a sufficient sample was collected, the IER department downloaded the data, along with the corresponding course success rates into an Excel file, which did not have any identifying information about the participants, for analysis by the researcher. The researcher downloaded the file on a password-protected computer and will keep the file for a period of three years and then destroy it.

Data Analysis

To analyze the data, a multiple regression determined if a correlation exists between the criterion and predictor variables (Gall, Gall, & Borg, 2007). This analysis of the data was used to indicate if self-efficacy (criterion variable) can predict course success rates (predictor variable). Further exploration of the predictor variables looked specifically at self-efficacy in the areas of student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and the use of computers.

Using Microsoft Excel®, the researcher measured the four predictor variables of selfefficacy using the MNESEOTS and the scoring directions from the MNESEOTS, detailed in Appendix C, and scored each of the four subscales, student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers to find the mean score for each participant and verify that there was no missing data. A score was calculated for each of the 32 questions asked, based on a range of one through nine for each question, with one being very low self-efficacy and nine being very high self-efficacy for that question. Each question was scored from one to nine, then the numbers were added together and divided by eight to reach a mean score for each category of question (See complete scoring directions in Appendix C.)

Prior to analysis, the data were screened by the researcher to ensure that each question had an appropriate response and that no responses were missing. Any questions that were missing a response were excluded from analysis. The Qualtrics® survey was also designed so that all questions must be answered, and the participant could move to the next question or complete the survey without giving an answer for each question. This function eliminated the problem of missing data. The researcher then created a data file with Excel to be imported to SPSS® for analysis. Using SPSS®, a multiple linear regression analysis was used to examine the linear relationship between the predictor variable, course success rate and the criterion variables, self-efficacy in student engagement, self-efficacy in instructional strategies, self-efficacy in classroom management, and self-efficacy in the use of computer. In addition, demographic information was compiled to describe the sample, from the background characteristics that were collected with the survey (gender, age, ethnicity, highest degree, years of teaching experience, if the instructor has ever taken an online course as a student, and the subject area in which they teach).

The predictor variables were examined to determine if there was a predictive relationship with an instructor's course success rate and their feelings of self-efficacy as an online instructor. The course success rate was calculated by dividing the number of students who completed a course with a grade of A, B, or C by the total number of students who started the course (Bishop, et al. 2018). The total number of students included those who completed the course (with any outcome or grade) as well as those who withdrew or dropped the course (Bishop, et al. 2018). A multiple regression was appropriate for this analysis because it looked at the prediction of the data and because there was more than one predictor variable (Gall, et al. 2007).

There were three assumptions used with a multiple regression analysis, taken from the Liberty University (2019) Quantitative Resources folder for the School of Education:

- Assumption of Bivariate Outliers: Use scatter plots between all pairs of independent variables (x, x) and also the predictor variables (x) and criterion variable (y). Look for extreme bivariate outliers.
- 2. Assumption of Multivariate Normal Distribution: Look for a linear relationship between each pair of variables. If the variables are not linearly related, the power of the test is

reduced. A researcher can test for this assumption by plotting a scatter plot for each pair of predictor variables (x, x) and between the predictor variables (x) and the criterion variable (y). Look for the classic "cigar shape."

3. Assumption of non-Multicollinearity among the Predictor Variables: If a predictor variable (x) is highly correlated with another predictor variable (x), they essentially provide the same information about the criterion variable. If the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) is too high (greater than 10), a multicollinearity exists and has violated this assumption. Acceptable values are between 1 and 5 (Liberty University, 2019). Table 3 provides the collinearity statistics.

Once the data were collected and analyzed, the null hypothesis was rejected at the 95% confidence level. The findings are reported in the next section of this research.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

The purpose of this predictive correlational study was to determine if an instructor's perception of their academic self-efficacy in student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers as an online instructor could predict their online course success rate, as measured by the Michigan Nurse Educators Sense of Efficacy for Online Teaching Scale (MNESEOTS). The researcher collected data from 65 faculty members at a community college in North Carolina. A multiple linear regression was conducted with course success rate as the criterion variable, and the four types of self-efficacy as the predictor variables.

Research Question

RQ1: How accurately can an online instructor's online course success rate be predicted from a linear combination of their academic self-efficacy factors?

Null Hypothesis

Ho1: There is no significant predictive relationship between the criterion variable (online course success rate) for online instructors, and the predictor variables (self-efficacy in student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers as an online instructor).

Descriptive Statistics

Of the 65 participants, the majority of the sample was female (n = 40; 61.5%). The rest of the sample included males (n = 16; 24.6%), a non-binary individual (1.5%), and a large percentage of individuals who were missing or preferred not to respond (12.3%) (see Table 1). Over half of the individuals had a master's degree or higher (n = 41; 63.1%). Almost all participants had taken an online course as a student (n = 52; 80.0%). Approximately two-thirds

of participants were White (n = 44; 67.7%). The next most common ethnicity was Black or African American (n = 9; 13.8%). Half the sample reported their employment status as full-time faculty, curriculum (n = 34; 52.3%). About half of participants had 9 or fewer years of experience (n = 33; 51.0%).

Means, standard deviations, skewness, and kurtosis for all continuous variables are reported in Table 2.

Table 2

Descriptives of Continuous Variables

Scale	N	Min	Max	М	SD	Cronbach	Sk	ew	Kurtos	is
						α	Stat	SE	Stat	SE
SucRate	65	25	100	78.52	19.684	-	-0.897	0.297	0.192	0.586
StuEng	65	3.33	8.75	6.196	1.191	.892	-0.117	0.297	-0.515	0.586
InsStr	65	3.29	9	7.004	1.243	.882	-0.585	0.297	0.054	0.586
ClaMan	65	3.67	9	7.065	1.17293	.859	-0.756	0.297	0.368	0.586
UseCom	59	4.88	9	7.335	0.99597	.817	-0.408	0.311	-0.459	0.613

Skewness values for all variables fell within the acceptable +/-2 cutoff range. Similarly, kurtosis values for all variables fell within the +/- 7 cutoff range (Hair et al., 2010). All composites had a Cronbach's alpha above .7, indicating a high level of internal consistency (Nunnally & Bernstein, 1978) (see Table 3).

Table 3

Collinearity Statistics

Model Collir

Collinearity Statistics

		Tolerance	VIF
1	(Constant)		
	StuEng	.411	2.435
	InsStr	.155	6.461
	ClaMan	.223	4.484
	UseCom	.260	3.851

a. Dependent Variable: Course Success Rate

Results

Hypothesis

The research question and hypothesis under consideration was:

RQ1: How accurately can an online instructor's online course success rate be predicted from a linear combination of their academic self-efficacy factors?

 H_{01} : There is no significant predictive relationship between the criterion variable (online course success rate) for online instructors, and the predictor variables (self-efficacy in student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers as an online instructor).

Data Analysis

A multiple linear regression was conducted to assess the predictive strength of the criterion variable (course success rate) with self-efficacy in student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers as predictor variables. The overall model was not significant and predicted only 1.4% of the variance in section success rate (F(4, 54) = 1.211, p = .317, Adj $R^2 = .014$). None of the four types of self-efficacy were significantly
related to success rate when controlling for the other types of self-efficacy. See Tables 4-6. Because the results were not statistically significant, the null hypothesis was not rejected.

Table 4

Regression Model Results

Model	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.
Regression	1839.301	4	459.825	1.211	.317 ^b
Residual	20496.688	54	379.568		
Total	22335.989	58			

a. Dependent Variable: CourseSuccessRate

b. Predictors: (Constant), UseCom, StuEng, ClaMan, InsStr

Table 5

Model Summary

Model	R	R^2	Adjusted R^2	SEM	Sig.	
1	.287a	.082	.014	19.48251%	.317	

a. Dependent Variable: CourseSuccessRate

b. Predictors: (Constant), UseCom, StuEng, ClaMan, InsStr

Table 6

Coefficients

	Unstandardized		Standardized		
	Coefficients		Coefficients		
Model	В	SE	В	t	Sig.

(Constant)	69.964	19.823		3.529	0.001
StuEng	3.572	3.349	.217	1.067	0.291
InsStr	-8.835	5.527	530	1.599	0.116
ClaMan	7.526	4.827	.430	1.559	0.125
UseCom	-0.721	5.041	037	0.143	0.887

a. Dependent Variable: CourseSuccessRate

Data Screening and Assumptions Testing

Assumption of Bivariate Outliers

Scatter plots were used between all pairs of independent variables (x, x) and also the predictor variables (x) and criterion variable (y) to look for extreme bivariate outliers. A visual inspection of the scatterplot showed no extreme outliers. See figures 2-6.

Assumption of Multivariate Normal Distribution

A scatter plot for each pair of predictor variables (x, x) and between the predictor variables (x) and the criterion variable (y) to look for a linear relationship between each pair of variables and for the classic "cigar shape." A visual inspection of the scatterplot showed fairly even distributions of residuals for all values of the predicted dependent variable, and the scatterplots of the dependent variable against each of the continuous predictors showed little evidence for a linear relationship between success rate and each of the four types of self-efficacy. See figures 2-6.

Assumption of non-Multicollinearity

If a predictor variable (x) is highly correlated with another predictor variable (x), they essentially provide the same information about the criterion variable. If the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) is too high (greater than 10), you have multicollinearity and have violated this

assumption. Acceptable values are between 1 and 5. The data showed that all tolerance scores were above 0.1, and all VIF scores are below 10. Therefore, there was no multicollinearity between the variables. See Table 4.

Figure 2

Scatterplot of Success Rate Against Student Engagement



Figure 3





Figure 4

Scatterplot of Success Rate Against Classroom Management



Figure 5



Scatterplot of Success Rate Against Use of Computers

Figure 6

Scatterplot of Standardized Residuals Against the Unstandardized Predicted Values



CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS

Overview

This research focused on the self-reported efficacy of instructors and compared that against their course success rate to see if there was a correlation. In this chapter, the results of the research will be discussed as it relates to the literature review in chapter two. The implications of the research will be examined and explained as well as the limitations identified with this research. This chapter will conclude with recommendations for further research on this topic.

Discussion

The purpose of this predictive correlational study was to determine to what extent an instructor's perception of their academic self-efficacy in student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and use of computers as an online instructor can predict their online course success rate, as measured by the Michigan Nurse Educators Sense of Efficacy for Online Teaching Scale (MNESEOTS) (Robinia, 2008). Self-efficacy is a judgment of capability (Hardy et al., 2017), which is typically self-reported and presumably irrespective of the individual's actual qualifications, education, or experience with the subject matter in question. Course success rate is calculated by dividing the number of students who complete a course with a grade of A, B, or C by the number of students who start the course (Bishop et al., 2018).

The research question under consideration was:

RQ1: How accurately can an online instructor's online course success rate be predicted from a linear combination of their academic self-efficacy factors?

This research compared how an instructor felt about their self-efficacy in the areas of student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and the use of computers to see if there was a correlation between these areas and the instructor's course success rate. Faculty

completed a survey which asked a series of questions on each of those four areas to determine how they felt about their own abilities as an instructor. The college provided the course success rate for the responding faculty. The statistical analysis of the survey data and the course success rate showed that there was not a statistically significant correlation between how an instructor felt about themselves in these four areas compared to how successful their students were in their course.

This conclusion is surprising, as a considerable amount of the literature supports the idea that teacher self-efficacy and student success are related. For instance, Bidabadi et al. (2016) noted such a correlation and how the teachers and students form a sort of symbiotic relationship in their sharing of success in the classroom, with the teachers' level of self-efficacy giving the students a sense of control over their own fate in the classroom. The same is true for Mahler et al., (2018), who found that teacher self-efficacy was the essential ingredient of student success in the classroom. The contradiction between the present research and the established research does not point to a flaw in the instrument or differences in the population from other surveyed teacher groups, nor does it invalidate any other literature.

This does not mean that instructor self-efficacy is not related to student success, however. A large portion of the literature has confirmed the positive relationship between instructor selfefficacy and student success (Mahler et al., 2018; Wynants & Dennis, 2018; and Jepson & Ryan, 2018), with professional development being a key component of high levels of instructor selfefficacy (Baran & Correia, 2014; Kerrick et al., 2015, and Huss & Estep, 2016). The conflicting results from the present research could be attributed to a lot of variables, which simply means more study with this community college and this instructor population would be prudent.

In a comparison between the present research and Robina's (2010), which can be

considered the seminal study on the topic of instructor self-efficacy, some similarities and differences must be noted. Robina measured one of the same variables, teacher self-efficacy, but did not compare that level with the instructors' course success rate. Instead, she compared their perceived self-efficacy against individual variables, such as age, experience level, gender, and academic rank. In contrast, the present research did measure self-efficacy, but did not compare the level of self-efficacy with any of those variables, but instead with outcomes, the student success rates.

In both studies, teacher self-efficacy was found to be independent of multiple factors. In Robina (2010), age, gender, teaching experience in years, and education were not factors in teacher efficacy, and thus not necessarily a factor in student success. In the present study, instructor self-efficacy was found to be independent of student course success rates and other variables were not measured against or used to mediate this variable.

The main difference between the two studies, then, was how teacher self-efficacy was measured. In Robina (2010), various factors (age, gender, role, rank, years of nursing experience, years of teaching experience, number of online classes taught) that were thought to contribute to teacher self-efficacy were measured. In the present research, these factors were not considered in how instructors rated their own self-efficacy, nor were they considered in the overall student success rates.

Implications

The goal of this study was to contribute to the current body of knowledge pertaining to instructor self-efficacy and course success. The lack of correlation between student engagement, instructional strategies, classroom management, and the use of computers as it pertains to course success in this research does not necessarily mean that no such correlation exists. A closer look at the survey responses from one institution will be indicative of the culture of the institution and identify areas of strengths and weaknesses in the faculty body.

While the overall results of this research were not statistically significant, there are a few implications identified that were significant. For example, when looking at the individual survey results, the instructor who was the lowest in student engagement with a 3.75% on a 9-point scale had an 88% course success rate while one of the instructors who was the highest in student engagement with an 8.125% on a 9-point scale had an 62% course success rate. This suggests an opportunity for the college to provide professional development for faculty focused on both increasing engagement in the classroom and building self-confidence.

One way this could be accomplished is by sharing the course success rates with faculty compared to how they feel about themselves. Research shows that professional development for teachers is key to both student success and self-efficacy (Wynants & Dennis, 2018). This increased competence increases confidence, which in turn generates higher levels of teacher self-efficacy, leading to increased student engagement and better classroom management, resulting in students taking responsibility for their own success in the classroom, rather than depending on the teacher's efforts alone (Bidabadi et al., 2016). Therefore, a combination of more training and sharing course success rates might improve teacher self-efficacy, which should further improve student success levels.

Another interesting finding in the individual survey results was that the instructor with the lowest course success rate of 28% had an average efficacy of 7.47% on a 9-point scale while the instructor with the highest course success rate of 100% had an average efficacy of 8.59% on a 9-point scale. Another individual survey result showed the faculty with the lowest self-efficacy in instructional strategies of 4.75% on a 9-point scale had a course success rate of 65%. This

small bit of data suggests that on the extreme ends of the measured variables, there does seem to be correlation between self-efficacy and student success. However, within the middle of the distribution, there is less of a relationship, which is what the results show. There could be a relationship between the instructors' perceived self-efficacy and their experience in online teaching, as there was with Robina (2010), but more research with this population would be needed to establish such a correlation. Research shows that teaching and practical experience in general do not influence online teaching self-efficacy (Wu et.al., 2019), so it becomes apparent that specific training only improves teachers' self-efficacy regarding the object of that specific training (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2019).

From a college administration perspective, looking at the individual survey data showed an overall efficacy rate of 6.98% on a 9-point scale and an overall course success rate of 80.3%. This suggests that faculty who responded to the survey at this college have a high level of selfefficacy and course success rates that are slightly higher than the state average of 72% from all the community colleges in North Carolina in the 2020-2021 school year (NCCCS, 2021). So, while individual levels of self-efficacy did not seem to affect course success rates, a collective rating of self-efficacy affected overall course success rates positively. Because this is the first study on this population, and there was no other found studies for populations in the same state, it is currently unknown if such a correlation exists elsewhere or if these results are unique. Other research implies that these results should not be unique (Chichekian & Shore, 2016; Ciampa & Gallagher, 2018; and Lotter et.al., 2018).

Limitations

This study had several limitations for consideration. It is important to note that the multiple linear regression for this analysis was run on non-linear data. Most modern statistical

techniques in regression apply a robust estimation method which makes the data linear.

The most prominent limitation is that the research was conducted in one community college in North Carolina, which is not necessarily representative of any community college in either the state or throughout the United States (Fowler, 2009). The internal validity of the survey instrument is potentially strong enough to make the results generalizable to other populations, through which other researchers could infer that the results could apply to other teacher populations in other community colleges. This study should serve as a starting point for measuring other community colleges, even if generalizability cannot be assured. Even having a few measures in common, however, could assist with extrapolation and generalizability ability (Stewart & Rhodes, 2016). However, for more accuracy, surveying other teachers and faculty at other community colleges using validated measures and applicable variables would be prudent.

Another limitation of this study is the presence of response bias. Fink (2013) notes that response bias comes from how respondents are different from non-respondents in various or unknown ways and are therefore unlike the target population as a whole. This difference could range from respondents having a higher perceived self-efficacy than the target population to nonrespondents being unwilling to participate due to their lower course success rates. A variety of reasons could exist for the possibility of response bias, but future opportunities for research should take every opportunity to limit its potential effect on the results. In line with the limitation concerning generalizability to other community colleges, the size of the sample was limited by the size of the college. The community college from which the sample was selected is a medium-sized, rural institution. However, even small community colleges in urban areas are larger than the biggest rural community colleges, so the teacher and faculty populations are much different in size. Combined with the size of the institution, the differences in student populations

between urban and rural community colleges could have an effect on the educators' perceived effectiveness, which could have different effects in the survey results. As an example, Kaur (2017) reported that urban-based educators were significantly more effective in their course success rates than rural educators, which was specifically measured in her study. Thus, such a limitation should be factored in both this and future research on similar populations.

Finally, the response rate by the faculty is a limitation. The response rate was 21.7%, or 65 out of the 300 that were sent surveys. While such a low number can be used with the central limit theorem, the precision of the results should be higher than allowed by the theorem. This does not mean the research is invalidated, but that further research with better response rates would increase the credibility of the results.

The design of this predictive correlational study has limitations that also must be considered. Nonexperimental study designs cannot necessarily be used to predict an association, or even demonstrate or establish a causal relationship between variables throughout multiple populations, as the independent variables cannot be manipulated practically or even ethically (Reio, Jr., 2016). However, irrespective of the discovered correlation between the variables within the study, accurately reporting the results is paramount. The possibility of misreporting results or reporting them inaccurately is potentially also a limitation of nonexperimental research designs, especially if the research's design is inexact (Reio, Jr., 2016).

Recommendations for Future Research

The results of this study demonstrated that more research must be done in the area of selfefficacy as it pertains to course success to produce statistically significant results. Very little research has been published focusing on instructor self-efficacy and the correlation to course success indicating there are opportunities for further research in this area. Recommendations for future research include the following:

- Expand the size of the study to include multiple institutions and more types of colleges and universities to reach a wider faculty perspective.
- Conduct a qualitative study and interview both faculty and their respective students to compare how a faculty feels about their self-efficacy versus how the student feels about their faculty's efficacy.
- Survey both online faculty and faculty who teach in person to see if any difference exists in self-efficacy based on the delivery method of instruction.
- Model Robina (2010) by surveying for factors that might influence the instructors' sense of teacher self-efficacy at the same time as comparing against course success rates.
- Compare urban and rural community college populations to each other to determine if urban and rural community college educators have different levels of self-efficacy as compared against course success rates.

Important insight can be gained in the areas of self-efficacy by pursuing this research further to broaden the knowledge base in this field of study. Additionally, attempting to demonstrate a relationship between specific variables, such as experience and self-efficacy or location of educational institution and self-efficacy, could reveal some helpful data that might be useful in improving overall student success at this level of education.

REFERENCES

- Afkhaminia, F., Siamian, H., Behnampour, N., Moghimi, A., & Karimpour, S. (2018). Study of student success indicators based on the viewpoints of the students of mazandaran university of medical sciences. *AIM: Journal of the Society for Medical Informatics of Bosnia & Herzegovina, 26*(3), 175-179. doi:10.5455/aim.2018.26.175-179
- Aitken, G. (2016). Estimating cost-effectiveness of medical education. *The Clinical Teacher*, *13*(1), 76-79. doi:10.1111/tct.12509
- Alfred, M., Neyens, D. M., & Gramopadhye, A. K. (2018). Comparing learning outcomes in physical and simulated learning environment. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics, 68*, 110-118. doi:10.1016/j.ergon.2018.07.002
- Alfred, M., Neyens, D. M., & Gramopadhye, A. K. (2018). Comparing learning outcomes in physical and simulated learning environments. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics, 68*, 110-117. doi:10.1016/j.ergon.2018.07.002
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2015). Grade level: Tracking online education in the United States. Babson Survey Research Group and Quahog Research Group, LLC. Retrieved from http://www.onlinelearningsurvey.com/reports/gradelevel.pdf
- Allen, P., & Withey, P. (2017). The student customer phenomenon. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, *17*(3), 45-56. doi:10.33423/jhetp.v17i3.1552

Alqurashi, E. (2019). Predicting student satisfaction and perceived learning within online learning environments. *Distance Education*, 40(1), 133-148.
doi:10.1080/01587919.2018.1553562

Alsawaier, R. S. (2019). Research trends in the study of gamification. *International Journal of Information and Learning Technology*, *36*(5), 373-380. doi:10.1108/IJILT-12-2017-0119

Althauser, K. (2015). Job-embedded professional development: its impact on teacher selfefficacy and student performance. *Teacher Development*, 19(2), 210–225. doi:10.1080/13664530.2015.1011346

- Anthony Jr, B., Kamaludin, A., Romli, A., Raffei, A. F., Phon, D. N., Abdullah, A., . . . Baba, S. (2019). Exploring the role of blended learning for teaching and learning effectiveness in institutions of higher learning: An empirical investigation. *Education and Information Technologies*, 24, 3433–3466. doi:10.1007/s10639-019-09941-z
- Ashburn, E. (2006). 'Building a culture': Community-college campuses of the future emphasize convenience and flexibility. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, *52*(34), 36-38. Retrieved from

https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A145024609/OVIC?u=vic_liberty&sid=OVIC&xid=2a2d 5ea2

- Ates, H., & Alsal, K. (2012). The importance of lifelong learning has been increasing. Social and Behavioral Sciences, 46, 4092-4096. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.205
- Athiyaman, A. (1997). Linking student satisfaction and service quality perceptions: The case of university education. *European Journal of Marketing*, 31(7), 528-540.
 doi:10.1108/03090569710176655
- Awofala, A. O., Akinoso, S. O., & Fatade, A. O. (2017). Attitudes towards computer and computer self-efficacy as predictors of preservice mathematics teachers' computer anxiety. *Acta Didactica Napocensia*, 10(3), 91-108. doi:10.24193/adn.10.3.9
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control.* W.H.Freeman and Company, New Your City, NY.

- Baran, E., & Correia, A.-P. (2014). A professional development framework for online teaching. *Techtrends*, 58(5), 95-101. doi:10.1007/s11528-014-0791-0
- Barnard-Ashton, P., Rothberg, A., & McInerney, P. (2017). The integration of blended learning into an occupational therapy curriculum: A qualitative reflection. *BMC medical education*, 17(1), 1-13. doi:10.1186/s12909-017-0977-1
- Barton, E. A., & Dexter, S. (2019). Sources of teachers' self-efficacy for technology integration from formal, informal, and independent professional learning. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 1-20. doi:10.1007/s11423-019-09671-6
- Bassi, F. (2019). Students' satisfaction in higher education: The role of practices, needs and beliefs of teachers. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 27(1), 56-69. doi:10.1108/QAE-05-2018-0061
- Beasley, K. T., & Bernadowski, C. (2019). An examination of reading specialist candidates' knowledge and self-efficacy in behavior and classroom management: An instrumental case study. *Education Sciences*, 9(2), 1-9. doi:10.3390/educsci9020076
- Bidabadi, N. S., Isfahani, A. N., Rouhollahi, A., & Khalili, R. (2016). Effective teaching methods in higher education: Requirements and barriers. *Journal of Advances in Medical Education & Professionalism, 4*(4), 170-178. Retrieved from https://doaj.org/article/4f1aa1ca38724ef0a72f8be7fc1cdd42
- Bishop, T. J., Martirosyan, N., Saxon, D. P., & Lane, F. (2018). Delivery method: Does it matter? A study of the North Carolina developmental mathematics redesign. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *42*(10), 712-723. doi:10.1080/10668926.2017.1355281

Black, M. R. (2019). A comparative analysis of teacher self-efficacy score of online business faculty based on educational background. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation) Libery University, Lynchburg, VA.

- Borg, S. (2018). Evaluating the impact of professional development. *RELC Journal*, *49*(2), 195-216. doi:10.1177/003368821878437
- Bornschlegl, M., & Cashman, D. (2019). Considering the role of the distance student experience in student satisfaction and retention. *Open Learning: The Journal of Open, Distance and e-Learning, 34*(2), 139-155. doi:10.1080/02680513.2018.1509695
- Bowen, W. G., Chingos, M. M., Lack, K. A., & Nygren, T. I. (2012). Interactive learning online at public universities: Evidence from randomized trials. *ITHAKA*, 1-52. Retrieved from https://sr.ithaka.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/sr-ithaka-interactive-learning-online-atpublic-universities.pdf
- Bradshaw, C. P., Pas, E. T., Bottiani, J. H., Debnam, K. J., Reinke, W. M., Herman, K. C., & Rosenberg, M. S. (2018). Promoting cultural responsivity and student engagement through double check coaching of classroom teachers: An efficacy study. *School Psychology Review*, 47(2), 118–134. doi:10.17105/SPR-2017-0119.V47-2
- Braun, J., & Zolfagharian, M. (2016). Student participation in academic advising: Propensity, behavior, attribution and satisfaction. *Research in Higher Education*, 57(8), 968-989.
 doi:10.1007/s11162-016-9414-2
- Brzeski, T. A. (2014). Advances in technology pave the path to actual learning: Using blogging as a learning tool. *HETS Online Journal*, 5(1), 1-4. Retrieved from https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A469314975/AONE?u=vic_liberty&sid=AONE&xid=18a 3fd37

- Callaghan, M. N., Long, J. J., van Es, E. A., Reich, S. M., & Rutherford, T. (2018). How teachers integrate a math computer game: Professional development use, teaching practices, and student achievement. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 34(1), 10-19. doi:10.1111/jcal.12209
- Carpenter, R., Sweet, C., & Blythe, H. (2016). The Future of Faculty Development. *The Journal* of Faculty Development, 30(2), 5-8. Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/docview/1931657039?pq-origsite=gscholar
- Castles, J. (2004). Persistence and the adult learner: Factors affecting persistence in open university students. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 5(2), 166-179. doi:10.1177/1469787404043813
- Cerci, P. A., & Dumludag, D. (2019). Life satisfaction and job satisfaction among university faculty: The impact of working conditions, academic performance and relative income. 144, 785-806. doi:10.1007/s11205-018-02059-8
- Chandra, T., Hafni, L., Chandra, S., Purwati, A. A., & Chandra, J. (2019). The influence of service quality, university image on student satisfaction and student loyalty. *Benchmarking: An International Journal, 26*(5), 1533-1549. doi:10.1108/BIJ-07-2018-0212
- Chang, T.-S., Lin, H.-H., & Song, M.-M. (2011). University faculty members' perceptions of their teaching efficacy. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International, 48*(1), 49-60. doi:10.1080/14703297.2010.543770
- Chapman, D. (2011). Contingent and tenured/tenure-track faculty: Motivations and incentives to teach distance education courses. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*,

14(3), 1-7. Retrieved from

https://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/fall143/chapman143.html

- Cheng, G., & Chau, J. (2016). Exploring the relationships between learning styles, online participation, learning achievement and course satisfaction: An empirical study of a blended learning course. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 47(2), 257-278. doi:10.1111/bjet.12243
- Cherrstrom, C. A., Robbins, S. E., Boden, C. J., & Bixby, J. (2019). Need tech? Nontraditional student perceptions of educational technology tools. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 1-14. doi:10.1080/07377363.2019.1680266
- Cheslock, J. J., Ortagus, J. C., Umbricht, M. R., & Wymore, J. (2016). The cost of producing higher education: An exploration of theory, evidence, and institutional policy. *Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research*, *31*, 349-392. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-26829-3
- Chichekian, T., & Shore, B. M. (2016). Preservice and practicing teachers' self-efficacy for inquiry-based instruction. *Cogent Education*, *3*, 1-19. doi:10.1080/2331186X.2016.1236872
- Cho, S.-W., Kopko, E., Jenkins, D., & Jaggars, S. S. (2012). New Evidence of Success for Community College Remedial English Students: Tracking the Outcomes of Students in the Accelerated Learning Program (ALP). *Community College Research Center, 53*, 1-30. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED538995.pdf
- Christensen, C., & Eyring, H. J. (2011). *The innovative university: Changing the DNA of higher education*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Christian, B. J. (2017). Primary pre-service teachers' perceptions of course related factors that enhance instructional self-efficacy. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(2), 13-27. doi:10.14221/ajte.2017v42n2.2
- Ciampa, K., & Gallagher, T. L. (2018). A comparative examination of Canadian and American pre-service teachers' self-efficacy beliefs for literacy instruction. *Reading and Writing*, 31, 457–481. doi:10.1007/s11145-017-9793-6
- Clark, R. C., & Mayer, R. E. (2016). *E-learning and the science of instruction: Proven guidelines for consumers and designers of multimedia learning* (4th ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Coates, H. (2007). A model of online and general campus-based student engagement. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 32(2), 121-141. doi:10.1080/02602930600801878
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, *112*(1), 155-159. doi:10.1037//0033-2909.112.1.155
- Comer, D. R., Lenaghan, J. A., & Sengupta, K. (2015). Factors that affect students' capacity to fulfill the role of online learner. *Journal of Education for Business*, 90(3), 145-155. doi:10.1080/08832323.2015.1007906
- Corry, M., & Stella, J. (2018). Teacher self-efficacy in online education: A review of the literature. *Research in Learning Technology*, *26*(0), 1-12. doi:10.25304/rlt.v26.2047

Coyne, J., Lane, M., Nickson, L., Hollas, T., & Potter, J. P. (2017). Assessing pre-service teachers' attitudes and self-efficacy in using technology in the classroom. *Teacher Education and Practice, 30*(4), 1-9. Retrieved from https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A552850201/AONE?u=vic_liberty&sid=AONE&xid=d9b 8c951

- Creswell, J. W. (2015). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluation quantitative and qualitative research* (5th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Daniels, L. M., Radil, A. I., & Goegan, L. D. (2017). Combinations of personal responsibility:
 Differences on pre-service and practicing teachers' efficacy, engagement, classroom goal structures and wellbeing. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*, 1-12. doi:0.3389/fpsyg.2017.00906

Davenport, J. (1987). Is there a way out of the andragogy morass? *Lifelong Learning: an Omnibus of Practice and Research, 11*(3), 17-20. Retrieved from https://searchworks.stanford.edu/view/463887

- Davenport, J., & Davenport, J. A. (1985). A chronology and analysis of the andragogy debate. *Adult Education Quarterly*, *35*(3), 152–159. doi:10.1177/0001848185035003004
- Dellinger, A. B., Bobbett, J. J., Olivier, D. F., & Ellett, C. D. (2008). Measuring teachers' selfefficacy beliefs: Development and use of the TEBS-self. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(3), 751–766. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2007.02.010
- Dennis, M. (2012). The impact of MOOCs on higher education. *College and University*, 88(2), 24-30. Retrieved from https://www.aacrao.org/research-publications/quarterly-journals/college-university-journal/article/c-u-archive/c-u-vol.-88-no.-2-fall-2012-(.pdf)
- Denson, N., Szelenyi, K., & Bresonis, K. (2018). Correlates of work-life balance for faculty across racial/ethnic groups. *Research in Higher Education, 59*(2), 226–247. doi:10.1007/s11162-017-9464-0
- Depaepe, F., & Konig, J. (2018). 2018) General pedagogical knowledge, self-efficacy and instructional practice Disentangling their relationship in pre-service teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 69, 177-190. doi:0.1016/j.tate.2017.10.003

- Doménech-Betoret, F., Abellán-Roselló, L., & Gómez-Artiga, A. (2017). Self-efficacy, expectancy-value beliefs, achievement and satisfaction. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 1-12. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01193
- Draus, P. J., Curran, M. J., & Trempus, M. S. (2014). The influence of instructor-generated video content on student satisfaction with and engagement in asynchronous online classes. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 10(2), 240-254. Retrieved from https://jolt.merlot.org/vol10no2/draus_0614.pdf
- Elliott, K. M., & Shin, D. (2002). Student Satisfaction: An alternative approach to assessing this important concept. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 24(2), 197-209. doi:10.1080/1360080022000013518
- Ellis, H. (2019). A nontraditional conundrum: The dilemma of nontraditional student attrition in higher education. *College Student Journa*, 53(1), 24-32. Retrieved from https://www.ingentaconnect.com/contentone/prin/csj/2019/00000053/0000001/art00004

Elstad, E., & Christophersen, K.-A. (2017). Perceptions of digital competency among student teachers: Contributing to the development of student teachers' instructional self-efficacy in technology-rich classrooms. *Education Sciences*, 7(1), 1-15. doi:10.3390/educsci7010027

Ferencz, T. (2017). Shared perceptions of online adjunct faculty in the United States who have a high sense of community. *Journal of Educators Online*, 14(2), 1-19. doi:10.9743/jeo.2017.14.2.6

Fink, A. (2013). How to conduct surveys: A step-by-step guide (5th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.

Finnegan, C. L. (2019). The multiple roles of faculty in supporting community college students. New Directions for Community Colleges, 187, 63-72. doi:10.1002/cc.20370 Fong, C. J., Dillard, J. B., & Hatcher, M. (2019). Teaching self-efficacy of graduate student instructors Exploring faculty motivation, perceptions of autonomy support, and undergraduate student engagement. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 98, 91-105. doi:10.1016/j.ijer.2019.08.018

Fowler, F. J. (2009). Survey Research Methods (4th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.

- Fredricks, J., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2004). School engagement: Potential of the concept, state of the evidence. *Review of Educational Research*, 74(1), 59-109. doi:10.3102/00346543074001059
- Gall, M. D., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2007). *Educational research: An introduction* (8th ed.).Boston, MA: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Garrison, D. R., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2001). Critical thinking, cognitive presence, and computer conferencing in distance education. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 15(1), 7-23. doi:10.1080/08923640109527071
- Ginder, S. A., Kelly-Reid, J. E., & Mann, F. B. (2019). Enrollment and employees in postsecondary institutions, fall 2017 and financial statistics and academic libraries, fiscal year 2017. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2019021REV
- Gourlay, L. (2017). Student engagement, 'learnification' and the sociomaterial: Critical perspectives on higher education policy. *Higher Education Policy*, *30*(1), 23–34. doi:10.1057/s41307-016-0037-1
- Granziera, H., & Perera, H. N. (2019). Relations among teachers' self-efficacy beliefs, engagement, and work satisfaction: A social cognitive view. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 58, 75-84. doi:10.1016/j.cedpsych.2019.02.003

- Gray, J. A., & DiLoreto, M. (2016). The effects of student engagement, student satisfaction, and perceived learning in online learning environments. NCPEA International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation, 11(1), 1-20. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1103654.pdf
- Grealy, F. (2015). Mobile professional learning for the legal profession in Ireland A studentcentred approach. *The Law Teacher*, 49(3), 303-322. doi:10.1080/03069400.2015.1035529
- Green, S. B., & Salkind, N. J. (2017). Using SPSS for Windows and Macintosh: Analyzing and understanding data (8th ed.). New York City, NY: Pearson.
- Green, T., Alejandro, J., & Brown, A. H. (2009). The retention of experienced faculty in online distance education programs: Understanding factors that impact their involvement.
 International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning, 10(3), 1-15.
 doi:10.19173/irrodl.v10i3.683
- Gregory, C. B., & Lampley, J. H. (2016). Community college student success in online versus equivalent face-to-face courses. *Journal of Learning in Higher Education*, *12*(2), 63-72.
 Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1139733.pdf
- Gudek, B. (2019). Computer self-efficacy perceptions of music teacher candidates and their attitudes towards digital technology. *European Journal of Educational Research*, 8(3), 683-696. doi:10.12973/eu-jer.8.3.696
- Guth, D. J. (2018). Coming out of the dark. *Community College Journal*, 89(2), 12-17. Retrieved from https://www.ccjournal-digital.com/ccjournal/october_november_2018?pg=14#pg14
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis: A global perspective*. Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson Education International.

- Harasim, L. (2000). Shift happens: Online education as a new paradigm in learning. *Internet and Higher Education, 3*(1), 41-61. doi:10.1016/S1096-7516(00)00032-4
- Hardy, P., Shepard, M., & Pilotti, M. (2017). Does part-time faculty's self-efficacy predict critical dimensions of online college teaching? *College Teaching*, 65(2), 50-57. doi:10.1080/87567555.2016.1232692
- Harlin, E.-M. (2014). Watching oneself teach long-term effects of teachers' reflections on their video-recorded teaching. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education, 23*(4), 507-521. doi:10.1080/1475939X.2013.822413
- Harris, P. J., Campbell Casey, S. A., Westbury, T., & Florida-James, G. (2016). Assessing the link between stress and retention and the existence of barriers to support service use within HE. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 40(6), 824-845.
 doi:10.1080/0309877X.2015.1014316
- Hartree, A. (1984). Malcolm Knowles' theory of andragogy: A critique. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, *3*(3), 203-210. doi:10.1080/0260137840030304
- Hashey, A., & Stahl, S. (2014). Making online learning accessible for students with disabilities. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 46(5), 70-78. doi:10.1177/0040059914528329
- Heath, M. K. (2017). Teacher-initiated one-to-one technology initiatives: How teacher selfefficacy and beliefs help overcome barrier thresholds to implementation. *Computers in the Schools*, 34(1-2), 88-106. doi:10.1080/07380569.2017.1305879
- Horvitz, B. S., Beach, A. L., Anderson, M. L., & Xia, J. (2015). Examination of faculty selfefficacy related to online teaching. *Innovative Higher Education*, 40(4), 305–316. doi:10.1007/s10755-014-9316-1

Houle, C. O. (1961). The inquiring mind. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Press.

- Howe, D. L., Chen, H.-C., Heitner, K. L., & Morgan, S. A. (2018). Differences in nursing faculty satisfaction teaching online: A comparative descriptive study. *The Journal of Nursing Education*, 57(9), 536-543. doi:10.3928/01484834-20180815-05
- Hsu, P.-S. (2016). Examining current beliefs, practices and barriers about technology integration: A case study. *Techtrends*, *60*(1), 30-40. doi:10.1007/s11528-015-0014-3
- Hughes, J. N., Wu, J.-Y., Kwok, O.-m., Villarreal, V., & Johnson, A. Y. (2012). Indirect effects of child reports of teacher–student relationship on achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 104(2), 350–365. doi:10.1037/a0026339
- Hunter-Johnson, Y. (2017). Demystifying educational resilience: Barriers of bahamian nontraditional adult learners in higher education. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 65(3), 175-186. doi:10.1080/07377363.2017.1275230
- Huss, J. A., & Eastep, S. (2016). Okay, our courses are online, but are they ADA compliant? An investigation of faculty awareness of accessibility at a midwestern university. *Inquiry in Education*, 8(2), 1-21. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.nl.edu/ie/vol8/iss2/2
- Ivankova, N. V., & Stick, S. L. (2007). Students' persistence in a distributed doctoral program in educational leadership in higher education: A mixed methods study. *Research in Higher Education, 48*(1), 93-135. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/25704494
- Jacoby, B. (2015). Enhancing commuter student success: What's theory got to do with it? *New Directions for Student Services*, *150*, 3-12. doi:10.1002/ss.20122
- Jaggars, S. S., Hodara, M., Cho, S.-W., & Xu, D. (2015). Three accelerated developmental education programs: Features, student outcomes, and implications. *Community College Review*, 41(3), 3-26. doi:10.1177/0091552114551752

- Jarvis, P. (1984). Andragogy A sign of the times. *Studies in the Education of Adults, 16*(1), 32-38. doi:10.1080/02660830.1984.11730438
- Jepson, A., & Ryan, G. (2018). Applying the motivation, opportunity, ability (MOA) model, and self-efficacy (S-E) to better understand student engagement on undergraduate event management programs. *Event Management*, 22, 271-285. doi:10.3727/152599518X15173356116718
- Jones, A. R. (2013). Increasing adult learner motivation for completing self-directed e-learning. *Performance Improvement*, 52(7), 32-42. doi:10.1002/pfi.21361
- Juuti, K., Christophersen, K.-A., Elstad, E., Solhaug, T., & Turmo, A. (2018). Finnish teacher education and its contributions to preservice teachers' instructional self-efficacy. *Issues* in Educational Research, 28(2), 422-437. Retrieved from http://www.iier.org.au/iier28/juuti.pdf
- Kasson, E. M., & Wilson, A. N. (2017). Preliminary evidence on the efficacy of mindfulness combined with traditional classroom management strategies. *Behavioral Analysis Practice*, 10, 242–251. doi:10.1007/s40617-016-0160-x
- Katsara, O., & De Witte, K. (2019). How to use Socratic questioning in order to promote adults' self-directed learning. *Studies in the Education of Adults*, *51*(1), 109–129. doi:10.1080/02660830.2018.1526446

Kaur, H. (2017). A study of teacher effectiveness in relation to occupational stress and life satisfaction among teacher educators. *International Journal Advances in Social Science and Humanities*, 5(8), 1-9. Retrieved from http://www.ijassh.com/index.php/IJASSH/article/view/29

- Keengwe, J., & Kidd, T. T. (2010). Towards best practices in online learning and teaching in higher education. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 6(2), 533-541. Retrieved from https://jolt.merlot.org/vol6no2/keengwe_0610.pdf
- Kehrwald, B. (2008). Understanding social presence in text-based online learning environments. *Distance Education, 29*(1), 89-106. doi:I0.1080/01587910802004860

Kelleci, O., Kulaksiz, T., & Pala, F. K. (2018). The effect of social network-supported microlearning on teachers' self-efficacy and teaching skills. *World Journal on Educational Technology: Current Issues, 10*(2), 115-129. doi:10.18844/wjet.v10i2.3456

- Kentnor, H. E. (2017). Distance education and the evolution of online learning in the United States. *Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue*, 17(1/2), 21-34. Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/Delivery.cfm/SSRN_ID2933011_code724771.pdf?abstractid =2643748&mirid=1
- Kerrick, S. A., Miller, K. H., & Ziegler, C. (2015). Using continuous quality improvement (CQI) to sustain success in faculty development for online teaching. *The Journal of Faculty Development, 29*(1), 33-40.

doi:https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/nfp/jfd/2015/00000029/00000001/art00004

- Khiat, H. (2017). Academic performance and the practice of self-directed learning: The adult student perspective. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, *41*(1), 44-59. doi:10.1080/0309877X.2015.1062849
- King, E., & Boyatt, R. (2015). Exploring factors that influence adoption of e-learning within higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 46(6), 1272-1280. doi:10.1111/bjet.12195

King-Jones, M. (2013). Career commitment of teaching nurse faculty. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). State University of New York, Buffalo, NY.

Kirsch, I. (1995). Self-Efficacy, Adaptation, and Adjustment. Boston, MA: Springer.

Knowles, M. S. (1968). Andragogy, Not Pedagogy. Adult Leadership, 16(10), 350-352, 386.

- Knowles, M. S. (1975). *Self-directed learning: A guide for learners and teachers*. Chicago, IL: Association Press.
- Knowles, M. S. (1978). Andragogy: Adult learning theory in perspective. *Adult and Student Learning*, 5(3), 9-20. doi:10.1177/009155217800500302
- Kong, S. C. (2010). Using a web-enabled video system to support student-teachers' selfreflection in teaching practice. *Computers & Education*, 55, 1772–1782. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2010.07.026
- Koshkin, A. P., Rassolov, I. M., & Novikov, A. V. (2017). Monitoring social media: Students satisfaction with university administration activities. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22(5), 2499-2522. doi:10.1007/s10639-016-9558-x
- Kuh, G. D., Kinzie, J., Buckley, J. A., Bridges, B. K., & Hayek, J. C. (2006). What matters to student success: A review of the literature. National Symposium on Postsecondary
 Student Success. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/npec/pdf/kuh_team_report.pdf
- Kurt, H., Ekici, G., & Gungor, F. (2014). The effect of classroom management course on selfefficacy of student teachers regarding teaching. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 116*, 791-795. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.299
- Latif, A., Choudhary, A., & Hammayun, A. (2015). Economic effects of student dropouts: A comparative study. *Journal of Global Economics*, 3(2), 1-4. doi:10.4172/2375-4389.1000137

Lee, Y., & Choi, J. (2011). A review of online course dropout research: Implications for practice and future research. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 59, 593–618. doi:10.1007/s11423-010-9177-y

- Levin, H. M., & Belfield, C. (2015). Guiding the development and use of cost-effectiveness analysis in education. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 8, 400–418. doi:10.1080/19345747.2014.915604
- Li, M., Wang, Z., Gao, J., & You, X. (2017). Proactive personality and job satisfaction: The mediating effects of self-efficacy and work engagement in teachers. *Current Psychology*, 36, 48-55. doi:10.1007/s12144-015-9383-1
- Liberty University. (2019). *Quantitative dissertations: Required LU SOE assumption testing*. Retrieved from Liberty University: https://canvas.liberty.edu/courses/37488/files/74093883/download?wrap=1
- Lloyd, S. A., Byrne, M. M., & McCoy, T. S. (2012). Faculty-perceived barriers of online education. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 8(1), 1-12. Retrieved from https://jolt.merlot.org/vol8no1/lloyd_0312.htm
- Lodico, M. G., Spaulding, D. T., & Voegtle, K. H. (2010). *Methods in educational research: From theory to practice*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Loeng, S. (2017). Alexander Kapp the first known user of the andragogy concept. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, *36*(6), 629-643. doi:10.1080/02601370.2017.1363826
- Loeng, S. (2018). Various ways of understanding the concept of andragogy. *Cogent Education*, 5(1), 1-15. doi:10.1080/2331186X.2018.1496643
- Lotter, C. R., Thompson, S., Dickenson, T. S., Smiley, W. F., Blue, G., & Rea, M. (2018). The impact of a practice-teaching professional development model on teachers' inquiry

instruction and inquiry efficacy beliefs. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*(16), 255–273. doi:10.1007/s10763-016-9779-x

- Luongo, N. (2018). An examination of distance learning faculty satisfaction levels and selfperceived barriers. *Journal of Educators Online*, *15*(2), 1-12. doi:10.9743/jeo.2018.15.2.8
- Ma, H., Yao, J., & Liu, L. (2017). Research on the correlation between learning effectiveness and online learning behavior based on online education scene. *Creative Education*, *8*, 2187-2198. doi:10.4236/ce.2017.813149

Maas, S. (2017). What online education has meant for students and institutions. *The National Bureau of Economic Research*, 1-2. Retrieved from https://data.nber.org/digest/jan17/jan17.pdf

Mahler, D., Grobschedl, J., & Harms, U. (2018). Does motivation matter? The relationship between teachers' self-efficacy and enthusiasm and students' performance. *PloS One*, *13*(11), 1-18. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0207252

Makopoulou, K., Neville, R. D., Ntoumanis, N., & Thomas, G. (2019). An investigation into the effects of short-course professional development on teachers' and teaching assistants' self-efficacy. *Professional Development in Education*, 1-16. doi:10.1080/19415257.2019.1665572

- Manteufel, R. D., & Karimi, A. (2018). Tracking student success in order to assess the instructor effectiveness to improve student retention and graduation rates. *Proceedings of the 2018 ASEE Gulf-Southwest Section Annual Conference*, 1-3. Retrieved from https://peer.asee.org/31556.pdf
- Martin, F., Budhrani, K., & Wang, C. (2019). Examining faculty perception of their readiness to teach online. *Online Learning*, *23*(3), 97-119. doi:10.24059/olj.v23i3.1555

- Martin, J. M. (2017). It just didn't work out: Examining nonreturning students' stories about their freshman experience. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 19*(2), 176–198. doi:10.1177/1521025115611670
- Mehaffy, G. L. (2018). Student success: It's not just for students. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 50(2), 8-14. Retrieved from 10.1080/00091383.2018.1445912
- Mehmood, T., Ch, A. H., & Saeed, A. (2016). Community development through open learning and distance education. *Bulletin of Education and Research*, 38(1), 1-8. Retrieved from http://pu.edu.pk/home/journal/32/V38_1_2016.html
- Merriam, S. B. (2001). Andragogy and self-directed learning: Pillars of adult learning theory. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education, 89*, 3-13. doi:10.1002/ace.3
- Metzner, B. S., & Bean, J. P. (1987). The estimation of a conceptual model of nontraditional undergraduate sudent attrition. *Research in Higher Education*, 27(1), 15-38. doi:10.1007/BF00992303
- Meyer, K. A. (2014). An analysis of the cost and cost-effectiveness of faculty development for online teaching. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 18(1), 1-13. doi:10.24059/olj.v18i1.389
- Mohr, S. C., & Shelton, K. (2017). Best practices framework for online faculty professional development: A delphi study. *Online Learning Journal (OLJ)*, 21(4). Retrieved from https://www.learntechlib.org/d/183780
- Montogmery, D. C., Peck, E. A., & Vining, G. G. (2001). *Introduction to linear regression analysis* (3rd ed.). New York City, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Moore, J. C. (2005). Quality framework and the five pillars. *The Sloan Consortium*, 1-10. Retrieved from http://www.mit.jyu.fi/OPE/kurssit/TIES462/Materiaalit/Sloan.pdf

- Moore, J. C., & Fetzner, M. J. (2009). The road to retention: A closer look at institutions that achieve high course completion rates. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 13(3), 3-22. Retrieved from https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/read/journal-issues/#
- Moradi, M., Liu, L., Luchies, C., Patterson, M. M., & Darban, B. (2018). Enhancing teaching-learning effectiveness by creating online interactive instructional modules for fundamental concepts of physics and mathematics. *Education Sciences*, 8(3), 1-14. doi:10.3390/educsci8030109
- Morreale, S. P., & Staley, C. M. (2016). Millennials teaching and learning and the elephant in the college classroom. *Communication Education*, 65(3), 370-373.
 doi:10.1080/03634523.2016.1177842
- Morris, T. H. (2019). Self-directed learning: A fundamental competence in a rapidly changing world. *International Review of Education, 65*, 633-653. doi:10.1007/s11159-019-09793-2
- Mourad, R., & Hong, J.-H. (2017). Comparison of developmental student outcomes in college level courses using propensity score matching. *Journal of Applied Research in the Community College, 24*(1), 59-76. Retrieved from https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/montezuma/jarcc/2017/00000024/0000001/art

00006

- Muljana, P. A., & Luo, T. (2019). Factors contributing to student retention in online learning and recommended strategies for improvement: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research, 18*, 19-57. doi:10.28945/4182
- Müller, T. (2008). Persistence of women in online degree-completion programs. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, *9*(2), 1-18. Retrieved from http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/article/view/455

- NC Community College System. (2018). *Virtual Learning Community (VLC)*. Retrieved from NC Community College System: https://vlc.nccommunitycolleges.edu/wp-content/uploads/reports/DL2017.pdf
- NCCCS. (2021). *Curriculum Grade Distributions*. Retrieved March 5, 2022, from NC Community Colleges:

https://www.nccommunitycolleges.edu/analytics/dashboards/curriculum-gradedistributions

- Nguyen, T. (2015). The effectiveness of online learning: Beyond no significant difference and future horizons. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 11(2), 309-319. Retrieved from https://jolt.merlot.org/Vol11no2/Nguyen_0615.pdf
- Nortvig, A.-M., Petersen, A. K., & Balle, S. H. (2018). A Literature Review of the Factors influencing e-learning and blended learning in relation to learning outcome, student satisfaction and engagement. *Electronic Journal of E-Learning*, 16(1), 46-55. Retrieved from http://www.ejel.org/issue/download.html?idArticle=639
- Nunnally, J. C., & Bernstein, I. (1978). *Psychometirc theory*. New York City, New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Nwosu, K. C., Achukwu, C. B., & Anyanwu, A. N. (2019). Perceived teachers' coping skills instruction, self-efficacy and students' test anxiety: What relationship exists? *Journal Plus Education*, 22(1), 33-42. Retrieved from https://www.ceeol.com/search/articledetail?id=762503
- O' Shea, S., Stone, C., & Delahunty, J. (2015). "I 'feel' like I am at university even though I am online." Exploring how students narrate their engagement with higher education

institutions in an online learning environment. *Distance Education*, *36*(1), 41-58. doi:0.1080/01587919.2015.1019970

- Online Learning Consortium. (2002). *Quality Framework, Five Pillars of Quality Online Education*. Retrieved from Online Learning Consortium: https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/about/quality-framework-five-pillars/
- Padmo, D., Idrus, O., & Ardiasih, L. S. (2019). The utilization of mobile devices for improving access to online learning for distance education's students. *The Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education, 20*(2), 147-161. doi:10.17718/tojde.557858
- Pajares, F. (2003). Self-efficacy beliefs, motivation, and achievement in writing: A review of the literature. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 19(2), 139-158. doi:10.1080/10573560308222
- Pallant, J. (2010). SPSS survival manual : A step by step guide to data analysis using SPSS. New Your City, NY: McGraw-Hill .
- Park, J.-H., & Choi, H. J. (2009). Factors influencing adult learners' decision to drop out or persist in online learning. *Educational Technology & Society*, 12(4), 207–217. Retrieved from https://www.j-ets.net/ETS/journals/12_4/18.pdf
- Patterson, K., & Seabrooks-Blackmoore, J. J. (2017). The effects of self-reflection and classroom management course on pre-service teachers' self-efficacy. *Journal of Theoretical Educational Science*, 10(3), 335-348. doi:10.5578/keg.57464
- Payne, C. R. (2009). Information technology and constructivism in higher education: Progressive learning frameworks. Hershey: IGI Global.
- Pelz, B. (2010). (My) Three principles of effective online pedagogy. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 14(1), 103-116. Retrieved from https://www.learntechlib.org/p/53520

- Perry, B., Boman, J., Care, D. W., Edwards, M., & Park, C. (2008). Why do students withdraw from online graduate nursing and health studies education. *Journal of Educators Online*, 5(1), 1-17. doi:10.9743/jeo.2008.1.2
- Perry, D., & Steck, A. (2019). Changes in faculty perceptions about online instruction:
 Comparison of faculty groups from 2002 and 2016. *The Journal of Educators Online*, *16*(2), 1-15. doi:10.9743/JEO.2019.16.2.8
- Perry, E. H., & Pilati, M. L. (2011). Online learning. New Directions for Teaching and Learning, 128, 95-104. doi:0.1002/tl.472
- Pervin, L. A., & Rubin, D. B. (1967). Student dissatisfaction with college and the college dropout: A transactional approach. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 72(2), 285-295. doi:10.1080/00224545.1967.9922326
- Petit dit Dariel, O., Wharrad, H., & Windle, R. (2013). Exploring the underlying factors influencing e-learning adoption in nurse education. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69(6), 1289–1300. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.06120.x
- Pierce, D. (2015). Connect the credentials. *Community College Journal*, *86*(3), 24-28. Retrieved from https://www.aacc.nche.edu/publications-news/community-college-journal/
- Poellhuber, B., Chomienne, M., & Karsenti, T. (2008). The effect of peer collaboration and collaborative learning on self-efficacy and persistence in a learner-paced continuousintake model. *Journal of Distance Education*, 22(3), 41-62. Retrieved from https://www.learntechlib.org/p/102735
- Pratt, D. D. (1993). Andragogy after twenty-five years. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education, 57*, 15-23. doi:10.1002/ace.36719935704
- Quinterno, J. (2019). How the 'open doors' stay open: Funding North Carolina's community colleges. *North Carolina Center for Public Policy Research*. Retrieved from https://nccppr.org/how-the-open-doors-stay-open-funding-north-carolinas-community-colleges/
- Rabourn, K. E., BrckaLorenz, A., & Shoup, R. (2018). Reimagining student engagement: How nontraditional adult learners engage in traditional postsecondary environments. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education, 66*(1), 22-33. doi:10.1080/07377363.2018.1415635
- Ragusa, A. T., & Crampton, A. (2017). Online learning: Cheap degrees or educational pluralization? *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 48(6), 1208–1216. doi:10.1111/bjet.12489
- Rascón-Hernán, C., Fullana-Noell, J., Fuentes-Pumarola, C., Romero-Collado, A., Vila-Vidala,
 D., & Ballester-Ferrando, D. (2019). Measuring self-directed learning readiness in health science undergraduates: A cross-sectional study. *Nurse Education Today, 83*, 1-6. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2019.08.019
- Rawlings Lester, R., Allanson, P. B., & Notar, C. E. (2017). Routines are the foundation of classroom management. *Education*, 137(4), 398-412. Retrieved from https://www.ingentaconnect.com/contentone/prin/ed/2017/00000137/00000004/art00006 Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C § 794 (d)).

Reid, P. (2017). Supporting instructors in overcoming self-efficacy and background barriers to adoption. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22, 369-382. doi:10.1007/s10639-015-9449-6 Reio, Jr., T. G. (2016). Nonexperimental research: Strengths, weaknesses and issues of precision. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 40(8/9), 676-690. doi:10.1108/EJTD-07-2015-0058

- Remenick, L. (2019). Services and support for nontraditional students in higher education: A historical literature review. *Journal of Adult and Continuing Education*, 25(1), 113-130. doi:10.1177/1477971419842880
- Remenick, L., & Goralnik, L. (2019). Applying andragogy to an outdoor science education event. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 67(1), 24-36. doi:10.1080/07377363.2019.1629804
- Richter, S. L. (2015). *Nurse educator self-assessed technology competence and online teaching efficacy: A pilot study.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of West Georgia, Carrollton, GA.
- Roberts, J. (2018). Future and changing roles of staff in distance education: A study to identify training and professional development needs. *Distance Education*, 39(1), 37-53. doi:10.1080/01587919.2017.1419818
- Robinia, K. A. (2008). Online teaching self-efficacy of nurse faculty teaching in public, accredited nursing programs in the state of Michigan. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo, Michigan.
- Robinia, K. A., & Anderson, M. L. (2010). Online teaching efficacy of nurse faculty. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 26(3), 168-175. doi:10.1016/j.profnurs.2010.02.006
- Rockinson-Szapkiw,, A. J., Wendt, J., Wighting, M., & Nisbet, D. (2016). The predictive relationship among the community of inquiry framework, perceived learning and online, and graduate students' course grades in online synchronous and asynchronous courses.

International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 17(3), 18-35. Retrieved from

http://www.irrodl.org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/index.php/irrodl/article/view/2203/3733

- Rogers, K. S. (2018). Retaining adult learners: What academic leaders and faculty need to know. *Recruiting & retaining adult learners, 20*(5), 6-7. doi:10.1002/nsr.30318
- Rose, T. (2018). Self-Help for the pharmacy educator. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 82(4), 302-304. doi:10.5688/ajpe7086
- Ryan, D. (2016). Using tablet technology for personalising learning. *Journal of Research in Special Education Needs, 16*(s1), 1071-1077. doi:10.1111/1471-3802.12252
- Sanchez, D. R., Langer, M., & Kaur, R. (2020). Gamification in the classroom: Examining the impact of gamified quizzes on student learning. *Computers & Education*, 144, 1-16. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2019.103666
- Sangwan, S. (2019). Innovation in instructional strategies & design. Globus Journal of Progressive Education, 9(2), 43-45. Retrieved from https://www.globusedujournal.in/wpcontent/uploads/2020/05/Paper-Dr-Surinder-GPEJD19.pdf
- Sato, T., Haegele, J. A., & Foot, R. (2017). Developing online graduate coursework in adapted physical education utilizing andragogy theory. *Quest*, 69(4), 453-466. doi:10.1080/00336297.2017.1284679
- Schiefele, U. (2017). Classroom management and mastery-oriented instruction as mediators of the effects of teacher motivation on student motivation. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 64*, 115-126. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.02.004

- Scholl, M. B., Hayden, S. C., & Clarke, P. B. (2017). Promoting optimal student engagement in online counseling courses. *The Journal of Humanistic Counseling*, 56(3), 197-210. doi:10.1002/johc.12053
- Scida, E. E., & Saury, R. E. (2006). Hybrid courses and their impact on student and classroom performance: A case study. *CALICO Journal*, 23(3), 517-531. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/24156352
- Seaman, J. E., Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2018). Grade increase: Tracking distance education in the United States. *Babson Survey Research Group*, 1-45. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED580852.pdf
- Seeram, E. (2019). An overview of correlational research. *Radiologic Technology*, *91*(2), 176-179. Retrieved from http://www.radiologictechnology.org/content/91/2/176.short
- Seidman, A. (2012). College student retention: Formula for student success (2nd ed.). Lanham,MD: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Servant-Miklos, V., & Noordegraaf-Eelens, L. (2019). Toward social-transformative education: An ontological critique of self-directed learning. *Critical Studies in Education*, 60, 1-17. doi:10.1080/17508487.2019.1577284
- Shaheen, N. L., & Watulak, S. L. (2019). Bringing disability Into the discussion: Examining technology accessibility as an equity concern in the field of instructional technology. 51(2), 187-201. doi:10.1080/15391523.2019.1566037
- Shaughnessy, M. F. (2004). An interview with Anita Woolfolk: The educational psychology of teacher efficacy. *Educational Psychology Review*, 16(2), 153-176. doi:10.1023/B:EDPR.0000026711.15152.1f

Shaukat, S., & Iqbal, H. M. (2012). Teacher self-efficacy as a function of student engagement, instructional strategies and classroom management. *Pakistan Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 9(3), 82-86. Retrieved from https://www.gcu.edu.pk/FullTextJour/PJSCS/2012july/13.pdf

- Shea, P. (2019). Bridges and barriers to teaching online college courses: A study of experienced online faculty in thirty-six colleges. *Online Learning*, 11(2), 73-128. doi:10.24059/olj.v11i2.1728
- Short, J., Williams, E., & Christie, B. (1976). *The social psychology of communication*. New York: Wiley.
- Shukor, N. A., Tasir, Z., & Van der Meijden, H. (2015). An examination of online learning effectiveness using data mining. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 172, 555-562. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.402
- Siegel, D., Acharya, P., & Sivo, S. (2017). Extending the technology acceptance model to improve usage & decrease resistance toward a new technology by faculty in higher education. *The Journal of Technology Studies*, 43(2), 58-69. doi:10.2307/90023142
- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2019). Teacher self-efficacy and collective teacher efficacy:
 Relations with perceived job resources and job demands, feeling of belonging, and
 teacher engagement. *Creative Education*, 10(7), 1400-1424. doi:10.4236/ce.2019.107104
- Srisupawong, Y., Koul, R., Neanchaleay, J., Murphy, E., & Francois, E. J. (2018). The relationship between sources of self-efficacy in classroom environments and the strength of computer self-efficacy beliefs. *Education and Information Technologies*, 23(2), 681– 703. doi:10.1007/s10639-017-9630-1

- Stack, S. (2015). Learning Outcomes in an online vs traditional course. International Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 9(1), 1-20. doi:10.20429/ijsotl.2015.090105
- Steffens, C. L. (2018). *Inventory and analysis of the online teaching self-efficacy beliefs of nurse educators*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Allen College, Waterloo, IA.
- Stout, K. A. (2016). Implementing comprehensive reform: Implications for practice. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, *176*, 99-107. doi:10.1002/cc.20227
- Stuart, E. A., & Rhodes, A. (2017). Generalizing treatment effect estimates from sample to population: A case study in the difficulties of finding sufficient data. *Evaluation Review*, 41(4), 357-388. doi:10.1177/0193841X16660663
- Stuart, G. R., Rios-Aguilar, C., & Deil-Amen, R. (2014). "How much economic value does my credential have?": Reformulating Tinto's model to study students' persistence in community colleges. *Community College Review*, 42(4), 327–341. doi:10.1177/0091552114532519
- Sun, A., & Chen, X. (2016). Online education and its effective practice A research review. Journal of Information Technology Education: Research, 15, 157-190. doi:10.28945/3502
- Sun, Q., Abdourazakou, Y., & Norman, T. J. (2017). LearnSmart, adaptive teaching, and student learning effectiveness: An empirical investigation. *Journal of Education for Business*, 92(1), 36-43. doi:10.1080/08832323.2016.1274711
- SurveyMonkey. (2019, January 2). *Privacy Policy*. Retrieved from SurveyMonkey®: https://www.surveymonkey.com/mp/legal/privacy-policy/
- Sword, T. S. (2012). The transition to online teaching as experienced by nurse educators. *Nursing Education Perspectives, 3*(4), 269-271. Retrieved from

https://journals.lww.com/neponline/Citation/2012/07000/The_Transition_to_Online_Tea ching_as_Experienced.12.aspx

- Tekkol, I. A., & Demirel, M. (2018). An investigation of self-directed learning skills of undergraduate students. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 1-14. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02324
- Thomas, L., Tuytens, M., Moolenaar, N., Devos, G., Kelchtermans, G., & Vanderlinde, R.
 (2019). Teachers' first year in the profession: The power of high-quality support. *Teachers and Teaching*, 25(2), 160-188. doi:10.1080/13540602.2018.1562440
- Tolsgaard, M. G., Tabor, A., Madsen, M. E., Wulff, C. B., Dyre, L., Ringsted, C., & Nørgaard,
 L. N. (2015). Linking quality of care and training costs: Cost-effectiveness in health
 professions education. *Medical Education*, 49(12), 1263-1271. doi:10.1111/medu.12882
- Tondeur, J., Hermans, R., van Braak, J., & Valcke, M. (2008). Exploring the link between teachers' educational belief profiles and different types of computer use in the classroom. *Computers in Human Behavior, 24*, 2541–2553. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2008.02.020
- Tough, A. M. (1967). *Learning without a teacher*. Toronto, ON: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.
- Tough, A. M. (1971). *The adult's learning projects; A fresh approach to theory and practice in adult learning*. Toronto, ON: Institute for Studies in Education.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Hoy, A. W. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 783–805. doi:10.1016/S0742-051X(01)00036-1
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016). Total fall enrollment in degree-granting postsecondary institutions, by level of enrollment, sex, attendance status, and age of student: 2011, 2013, and 2015. National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d16/tables/dt16_303.45.asp

van der Walt, J. L. (2019). The term "Self-directed learning" - Back to Knowles, or another way to forge ahead? *Journal of Research on Christian Education*, 28(1), 1-20. doi:10.1080/10656219.2019.1593265

- van der Zanden, P. J., Denessen, E., Cillessen, A. H., & Meijer, P. C. (2019). Patterns of success:
 First-year student success in multiple domains. *Studies in Higher Education, 44*(11), 2081-2095. doi:10.1080/03075079.2018.1493097
- van Garderen, D., Hanuscin, D., Thomas, C. N., Stormont, M., & Lee, E. J. (2017). Self-directed learning to improve science content knowledge for teachers. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 52(4), 236-242. doi:10.1177/1053451216659476
- Van Rensburg, E. S. (2018). Effective online teaching and learning practices for undergraduate health sciences students: An integrative review. *International Journal of Africa Nursing Sciences*, 9, 73-80. doi:10.1016/j.ijans.2018.08.004
- Van Rensburg, E. S. (2018). Effective online teaching and learning practices for undergraduate health sciences students: An integrative review. *International Journal of Africa Nursing Sciences*, 9, 73-80. doi:10.1016/j.ijans.2018.08.004
- Van Woezik, T., Reuzel, R., & Koksma, J. (2019). Exploring open space: A self-directed learning approach for higher education. *Cogent Education*, 6(1), 1-22. doi:10.1080/2331186X.2019.1615766
- van Wyk, M. M. (2017). Exploring student teachers' views on eportfolios as an empowering tool to enhance self-directed learning in an online teacher education course. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(6), 1-21. doi:10.14221/ajte.2017v42n6.1
- Vang, K., Martin, F., & Wang, C. (2020). Examining Community College Faculty Perceptions of Their Preparedness to Teach Online. *Journal of Applied Research in the Community*

College, 27(1), 45-63. Retrieved from

https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/montezuma/jarcc/2020/00000027/00000001/art 00005

- Vayre, E., & Vonthron, A.-M. (2017). Psychological engagement of students in distance and online learning: Effects of self-efficacy and psychosocial processes. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 55(2), 197–218. doi:10.1177/0735633116656849
- Vilkas, B. J. (2017). *A quantitative study of online faculty members' self-perceived teaching efficacy*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Grand Canyon University, Phoenix, AZ.
- Waheed, M., Kaur, K., & Kumar, S. (2016). What role does knowledge quality play in online students' satisfaction, learning and loyalty? An empirical investigation in an eLearning context. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 32(6), 561–575. doi:10.1111/jcal.12153
- Walker, C. (2019). Experiential learning as a strategy for student completion and course success in the community college. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 43(10-11), 803-806. doi:10.1080/10668926.2019.1600614
- Walker, C. (2019). Experiential learning as a strategy for student completion and course success in the community college. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 43(10-11), 803-806. doi:10.1080/10668926.2019.1600614
- Warner, R. M. (2013). *Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques*.Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Warren, S. J., & Robinson, H. A. (2018). The product life-cycle of online courses and student engagement. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 32(3), 161-176. doi:10.1080/08923647.2018.1475937

- Watson, S., & Marschall, G. (2019). How a trainee mathematics teacher develops teacher selfefficacy. *Teacher Development, 23*(4), 469-487. doi:10.1080/13664530.2019.1633392
- Webber, K. L. (2019). Does the environment matter? Faculty satisfaction at 4-year colleges and universities in the USA. *Higher Education*, *78*(2), 323-343. doi:323-343
- Wilcox, K. C., & Lawson, H. A. (2018). Teachers' agency, efficacy, engagement, and emotional resilience during policy innovation implementation. *Journal of Educational Change*, 19, 181-204. doi:10.1007/s10833-017-9313-0

Williams, J. (2016). A critical exploration of changing definitions of public good in relation to higher education. *Studies in Higher Education*, 41(4), 619-630. doi:10.1080/03075079.2014.942270

- Wingo, N. P., Ivankova, N. V., & Moss, J. A. (2017). Faculty perceptions about teaching online: Exploring the literature using the technology acceptance model as an organizing framework. *Online Learning*, 21(1), 15-35. doi:10.10.24059/olj.v21i1.761
- Wiseman, M. B. (2017). Examining the Pennsylvania online instruction endorsement and online teacher self-efficacy. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Northcentral University, San Diego, CA.
- Wong, V. W., Ruble, L. A., Yu, Y., & McGrew, J. H. (2017). Too stressed to teach? Teaching quality, student engagement, and IEP outcomes. *Exceptional Children*, 83(4), 412-427. doi:10.1177/0014402917690729

Woods, K., & Frogge, G. (2017). Preferences and experiences of traditional and nontraditional university students. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Edu*, 65(2).
doi:10.1080/07377363.2017.1318567

- Wu, Y., Lian, K., Hong, P., Liu, S., Lin, R.-M., & Lian, R. (2019). Teachers' emotional intelligence and self-efficacy: Mediating role of teaching performance. *Social Behavior* and Personality: An International Journal, 47(3), 1-10. doi:10.2224/sbp.7869
- Wynants, S., & Dennis, J. (2018). Professional development in an online context: Opportunities and challenges from the voices of college caculty. *Journal of Educators Online*, 15(1), 1-11. doi:10.9743/JEO2018.15.1.2
- Yesilyurt, E., Ulas, A. H., & Akan, D. (2016). Teacher self-efficacy, academic self-efficacy, and computer self-efficacy as predictors of attitude toward applying computer-supported education. *Computers in Human Behavior, 64*, 591-601. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.07.038
- Youde, A. (2018). Andragogy in blended learning contexts effective tutoring of adult learners studying part time vocationally relevant degrees at a distance. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 37(2), 255-272. doi:10.1080/02601370.2018.1450303
- Zaccone, M. C., & Pedrini, M. (2019). The effects of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation on students learning effectiveness. Exploring the moderating role of gender. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 33(6), 1381-1394. doi:10.1108/IJEM-03-2019-0099
- Zacharia, Z. C. (2007). Comparing and combining real and virtual experimentation: An effort to enhance students' conceptual understanding of electric circuits. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 23, 120–132. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2729.2006.00215.x
- Zacharia, Z. C., & Olympiou, G. (2011). Physical versus virtual manipulative experimentation in physics learning. *Learning and Instruction*, 21(3), 317-331.
 doi:10.1016/j.learninstruc.2010.03.001

Zee, M., & Koomen, H. M. (2016). Teacher self-efficacy and its effects on classroom processes, student academic adjustment, and teacher well-being: A synthesis of 40 years of research. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(4), 981-1015. doi:10.3102/0034654315626801

APPENDIX A - Author Permission for Use of Instrument

Kristi Robinia Mon 9/16/2019 10:19 AM Martin, Denise 🗧	ゆちゃ
FinaltoolMNSEOT.docx 20 KB	
[EXTERNAL EMAIL: Do not click any links or open attachments unless you know the sender and trust the content.]	
Dear Denise:	
I have had several students from Liberty inquire about using the tool. the tool (and modify if needed) for their research work. I published in t 3 May-June 2010, so the work is over 9 years now. The article was "on published there in its entirety so I've attached.	There is no charge, and I am happy to have students us he "Journal of Professional Nursing" Volume 3 25 Numb line teaching efficacy of Nurse Faculty". The tool was no
I have had several students from Liberty inquire about using the tool. the tool (and modify if needed) for their research work. I published in to 3 May-June 2010, so the work is over 9 years now. The article was "on published there in its entirety so I've attached. Good luck with your dissertation work!	There is no charge, and I am happy to have students us he "Journal of Professional Nursing" Volume 3 25 Numb line teaching efficacy of Nurse Faculty". The tool was no
I have had several students from Liberty inquire about using the tool. the tool (and modify if needed) for their research work. I published in to 3 May-June 2010, so the work is over 9 years now. The article was "on published there in its entirety so I've attached. Good luck with your dissertation work! Kristi Robinia PhD, RN	There is no charge, and I am happy to have students us he "Journal of Professional Nursing" Volume 3 25 Numb line teaching efficacy of Nurse Faculty". The tool was no
I have had several students from Liberty inquire about using the tool. the tool (and modify if needed) for their research work. I published in the 3 May-June 2010, so the work is over 9 years now. The article was "on published there in its entirety so I've attached. Good luck with your dissertation work! Kristi Robinia PhD, RN Associate Dean and Director School of Nursing Northern Michigan University	There is no charge, and I am happy to have students us he "Journal of Professional Nursing" Volume 3 25 Numb line teaching efficacy of Nurse Faculty". The tool was no
I have had several students from Liberty inquire about using the tool. the tool (and modify if needed) for their research work. I published in f 3 May-June 2010, so the work is over 9 years now. The article was "on published there in its entirety so I've attached. Good luck with your dissertation work! Kristi Robinia PhD, RN Associate Dean and Director School of Nursing Northern Michigan University	There is no charge, and I am happy to have students us he "Journal of Professional Nursing" Volume 3 25 Numb line teaching efficacy of Nurse Faculty". The tool was no
I have had several students from Liberty inquire about using the tool. the tool (and modify if needed) for their research work. I published in the 3 May-June 2010, so the work is over 9 years now. The article was "on published there in its entirety so I've attached. Good luck with your dissertation work! Kristi Robinia PhD, RN Associate Dean and Director School of Nursing Northern Michigan University	There is no charge, and I am happy to have students us he "Journal of Professional Nursing" Volume 3 25 Numb line teaching efficacy of Nurse Faculty". The tool was no the Anishinaabeg

APPENDIX B - IRB Approval

LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

October 28, 2021

Denise Martin Daniel Baer

Re: IRB Exemption - IRB-FY21-22-61 THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INSTRUCTOR SELF-EFFICACY AND ONLINE COURSE SUCCESS RATES AT A COMMUNITY COLLEGE

Dear Denise Martin, Daniel Baer,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application in accordance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data safeguarding methods mentioned in your approved application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(i). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording).

The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects cannot readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects.

Your stamped consent form(s) and final versions of your study documents can be found under the Attachments tab within the Submission Details section of your study on Cayuse IRB. Your stamped consent form(s) should be copied and used to gain the consent of your research participants. If you plan to provide your consent information electronically, the contents of the attached consent document(s) should be made available without alteration.

Please note that this exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us at

irb@liberty.edu.

Sincerely, G. Michele Baker, MA, CIP Administrative Chair of Institutional Research Research Ethics Office